EU RMP

Drug Substance	Anifrolumab	
EMA version number	6	
AZ version number	6	
AZ Succession Number	2	
Data lock point	31 December 2023	
Date of final sign off	See e-signature page	

EUROPEAN UNION RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN (EU RMP) for SAPHNELO TM (Anifrolumab)

The content of this EU RMP has been reviewed and approved by the Marketing Authorisation Holder's QPPV or deputy QPPV, as delegated by the QPPV in the EU.

SaphneloTM is a trademark of the AstraZeneca group of companies.

Administrative Information

Rationale for submitting an updated RMP:

- Removal of additional pharmacovigilance activity for study D3461C00009 following completion.
- Inclusion of final data from study D3461C00009 (study 09).
- Updated information for study D3461R00028 with the changes agreed by Pharmacovigilance Risk Assessment Committee (PRAC).

Summary of significant changes in this RMP

RMP Part	Description of change
Part I	Updated ATC code as per WHO ATC Index.
Part II	Sections II.3, II.4.3, and II.7 were updated to include final data from study D3461C00009. Global post-marketing patient exposure (Section II.5) to SAPHNELO [™] was added.
Part III	Updated information (title, objectives, study design, study population, and milestones) for study D3461R00028 with the changes agreed by Pharmacovigilance Risk Assessment Committee (PRAC). Study D3461C00009 was removed from additional pharmacovigilance activity following completion
Part V	The summary table of risk minimisation measures has been updated to reflect the changes made in the pharmacovigilance plan.
Part VI	Updated the description of D3461R00028 and D3461R00046 studies in Section VI.2.3 Post-authorisation development plan.
Part VII	 Annex 2: study D3461R00028 title, objective, and milestone dates have been updated. A Completed Studies table was added to list study D3461C00009 following its completion. Annex 3: study D3461C00009 was removed. Annex 8 has been updated to summarise changes since the previous version.

Other RMP versions under evaluation

Not applicable.

Details of currently approved RMP

Version number:	EMA version 4	
	AstraZeneca version 4, succession 2	
Approved with procedure:	EMEA/H/C/004975/IB/0005	
Date of approval:	14 September 2023	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF	F CONTENTS	4
LIST OF A	BBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITION OF TERMS	7
1	PART I: PRODUCT OVERVIEW	8
2	PART II: SAFETY SPECIFICATION	9
2.1	MODULE SI: EPIDEMIOLOGY OF THE INDICATION AND TARGET POPULATION	9
2.2	MODULE SII: NON-CLINICAL PART OF THE SAFETY SPECIFICATION	12
2.2.1	Summary of key findings from non-clinical data	12
2.2.2	MODULE SHE CLINICAL TRIAL EXPOSURE	10
2.5	MODULE SIN: CLINICAL TRIAL EAPOSURE	10
2.4	Exclusion Criteria in pivotal clinical studies within the development	21
2.1.1	programme	21
2.4.2	Limitations to detect adverse reactions in clinical trial development	
	programmes	27
2.4.3	Limitations in respect to populations typically under-represented in clinical	27
2.5	MODULE SN/ POST AUTHODISATION EXPERIENCE	27
2.5	MODULE SV: POST-AUTHORISATION EXPERIENCE	28
2.5.2	Exposure	28 28
2.6	MODULE SVI: ADDITIONAL EU REQUIREMENTS FOR THE SAFETY	
	SPECIFICATION	28
2.7	MODULE SVII: IDENTIFIED AND POTENTIAL RISKS	29
2.7.1	Identification of safety concerns in the initial RMP submission	29
2.7.1.1	Risk not considered important for inclusion in the list of safety concerns in the	
0710	RMP	29
2.7.1.2	Risks considered important for inclusion in the list of safety concerns in the RMP and missing information	30
2.7.2	New safety concerns and reclassification with a submission of an updated	50
	RMP	31
2.7.3	Details of important identified risks, important potential risks and missing	22
2731	Information Presentation of important identified risks and important potential risks	32
2.7.3.1		52
IMPACT (2732	DN THE BENEFIT-RISK BALANCE OF THE PRODUCT:	35 35
2.8	MODULE SVIII: SUMMARY OF THE SAFETY CONCERNS	36
2.8.1	Summary of the safety concerns	36
3	PART III: PHARMACOVIGILANCE PLAN	37
3.1	ROUTINE PHARMACOVIGILANCE ACTIVITIES	37

3.2	ADDITIONAL PHARMACOVIGILANCE ACTIVITIES	37
Study desi	gn:	40
Study popu		40
3.3	SUMMARY TABLE OF ADDITIONAL PHARMACOVIGILANCE ACTIVITIES	44
4	PART IV: PLANS FOR POST-AUTHORISATION EFFICACY STUDIES	47
5	PART V: RISK MINIMISATION MEASURES	47
5.1	ROUTINE RISK MINIMISATION MEASURES	47
5.2	ADDITIONAL RISK MINIMISATION MEASURES	47
5.3	SUMMARY OF RISK MINIMISATION MEASURES	48
6	PART VI: SUMMARY OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR ANIFROLUMAB	48
6.1	THE MEDICINE AND WHAT IT IS USED FOR	49
6.2	RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE MEDICINE AND ACTIVITIES TO	
6.0.1	MINIMISE OR FURTHER CHARACTERISE THE RISKS	49
6.2.1	List of important risks and missing information	50
6.2.3	Post-authorisation development plan	51
6.2.3.1	Studies which are conditions of the marketing authorisation	
6.2.3.2	Other studies in post-authorisation development plan	52
7	PART VII: ANNEXES	55
7.1	ANNEX 4: Specific adverse drug reaction follow-up forms	55
7.2	ANNEX 6: Details of proposed additional risk minimisation activities	55
LIST OF F LIST OF 7	REFERENCES TABLES	56
Table 1-1	Product Overview	8
Table 2-1	Duration of exposure (pooled clinical study data)	17
Table 2-2	Exposure by age group and sex (pooled clinical study data)	18
Table 2-3	Exposure by dose (pooled clinical study data)	19
Table 2-4	Exposure by race (pooled clinical study data)	19
Table 2-5	Exposure of special populations included or not in clinical trial development programmes	27
Table 2-6	Summary of safety concerns	36
Table 3-1	Ongoing and planned additional pharmacovigilance activities	44
Table 5-1	Description of routine risk minimisation measures by safety concern	47

Table 5-2	Summary table of pharmacovigilance activities and risk minimisation	
	activities by safety concern	.48
Table 6-1	List of important risks and missing information	.50
Table 6-2	Important potential risk: Malignancy	.51
Table 6-3	Important potential risk: Serious infection	.51
Table 6-4	Missing information: Use in pregnant and breastfeeding women	.52
Table 6-5	Missing information: Effects on responses to inactivated vaccines	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITION OF TERMS

Abbreviation/Special term	Definition/Explanation
ADA	anti-drug antibody
AE	Adverse Event
ATC	Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical
CI	confidence interval
CIS	carcinoma in situ
EAIR	exposure-adjusted incidence rate
EEA	European Economic Area
eGFR	estimated glomerular filtration rate
EMA	European Medicines Agency
EPAR	European Public Assessment Report
EU	European Union
HPV	human papillomavirus
IFN	interferon
IFNAR1	subunit 1 of the type I interferon receptor
IFNAR2	type I IFN receptor alpha 2
IgG1	immunoglobulin G1
IP	investigational product
IV	intravenous
mAb	monoclonal antibody
mCM	minor Congenital Malformation
МСМ	Major Congenital Malformation
NOAEL	no-observed-adverse-effect level
PASS	post-authorisation safety study
РК	pharmacokinetic(s)
RMP	Risk Management Plan
Q4W	every 4 weeks
SC	subcutaneous
SGA	small for gestational age
SIR	standardised incidence ratio
SLE	systemic lupus erythematosus
SmPC	Summary of Product Characteristics (EU)
SOC	standard of care

Abbreviation/Special	Definition/Explanation	
term		
ТВ	tuberculosis	
UK	United Kingdom	
WHO	World Health Organization	

1 PART I: PRODUCT OVERVIEW

Active substance	Anifrolumab
Pharmacotherapeuticgroup(s) (ATC Code)	L04AG11
Marketing authorisation applicant	AstraZeneca AB
Medicinal products to which this RMP refers	Anifrolumab
Invented name in the EEA	SAPHNELO
Marketing authorisation procedure	Centralised
Brief description of the product	Chemical class: Anifrolumab is a human immunoglobulin G1 kappa mAb directed against IFNAR1. It is composed of 2 identical light chains and 2 identical heavy chains, with an overall molecular weight of approximately 148 kDa.
	Summary of mode of action: Anifrolumab binds to IFNAR1 with high specificity and affinity. This binding inhibits type I IFN signalling and blocks the biologic activity of type I IFNs. There is growing evidence that type I IFNs play a central role in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases such as SLE. Type I IFN or IFN-inducible gene expression levels have been associated with SLE disease activity, severity, and clinical manifestations. Therefore, targeting type I IFN signalling is expected to provide a therapeutic benefit for patients with SLE

	Important information about its composition:
	Anifrolumab lacks any agonist activity and was specifically engineered
	to be devoid of complement activating activity via C1q protein
	complex, which is multivalent for attachment to the complement
	fixation sites of immunoglobulin, for complement- dependent
	cytotoxicity. Anifrolumab is also engineered to be lacking in the
	binding activity via Fc gamma receptor I/IIA/IIB/IIIA (FcyRI,
	FcyRIIA, FcyRIIB, and FcyRIIIA, respectively). Therefore, it does not
	mediate antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Despite its Fc
	modification, anifrolumab retains its binding activity to the FcRn
	similar to a wild-type IgG1 and, thus, maintains its physiological
	recycling by vascular endothelial cells.
Hyperlink to the Product Information	Anifrolumab, Summary of Product Characteristics
Indication in the EEA	Current: Anifrolumab is indicated as an add-on therapy for the
	treatment of adult patients with moderate to severe, active,
	autoantibody-positive systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), despite
	standard therapy.
Dosage in the EEA	Current: The recommended dose of anifrolumab is 300 mg.
	administered as an IV infusion over a 30-minute period, every 4 weeks
Pharmaceutical form(s) and strengths	I ne Drug Product is supplied as a single-dose vial of concentrate for solution for infusion (starile concentrate). One vial of 2.0 mL of
	solution for infusion (sterne concentrate). One vial of 2.0 mL of
	concentrate contains 500 mg of antirolumad.
Is/will the product be subject to	Yes
additional monitoring in the EU?	

Table 1-1Product Overview

ATC Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical; C1q Complement component 1q (protein complex); EEA European Economic Area; EU European Union; Fc Fragment crystallisable; FcRn Fc gamma neonatal receptor; IFN Interferon; IFNAR1 subunit 1 of the type I interferon receptor; IgG1 Immunoglobulin G1; IgG1ĸ Immunoglobulin G1 kappa; IV Intravenous, mAb Monoclonal antibody; RMP Risk management plan; SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus.

2 PART II: SAFETY SPECIFICATION

2.1

MODULE SI: EPIDEMIOLOGY OF THE INDICATION AND TARGET POPULATION

Incidence

Globally, the incidence of SLE ranges from 0.3 to 23.7 cases per 100,000 person-years (Pons-Estel et al 2017). In Europe, the incidence of SLE is estimated at 3.3 to 5.0 per 100,000 person-years of the general population (Danchenko et al 2006). In the UK, the incidence was estimated to be 4.91 per 100,000 person-years (Rees et al 2016).

Prevalence:

Globally, the prevalence of SLE in the general population is estimated between 6.5 and 178 cases per 100,000 persons (Pons-Estel et al 2017). In Europe, the prevalence of SLE is estimated at 25.4 to 91.0 per 100,000 persons (Danchenko et al 2006). In the UK, prevalence is estimated 97.04 per 100,000 persons. The prevalence of SLE has been increasing in the UK in recent years (Rees et al 2016).

Demographics of the population in the indication – age, sex, and racial and/or ethnic origin and risk factors for the disease:

Systemic lupus erythematosus affects more females than males, with the female:male ratio of 8 to 15:1 (Pons-Estel et al 2017). Onset of SLE can occur at any age. Among adult-onset cohorts, incidence is highest from 24 to 32 years of age (Pons-Estel et al 2017), while maximal prevalence of SLE is between 45 to 64 years of age for females and between 40 to 89 years of age for males (Rees et al 2017). Incidence and prevalence rates in people of African or Asian descent are 2 to 3 times higher than in Caucasian populations (Pons-Estel et al 2010). In addition, non-Caucasians often have more severe clinical manifestations, such as increased haematological, serosal, neurological, and renal manifestations, and accrue more damage over time and at a faster pace (Pons-Estel et al 2017, Pons-Estel et al 2010).

Systemic lupus erythematosus is a complex, heterogeneous disease with no known aetiology, but some genetic and familial connections have been identified in regional analyses and case studies (Michel et al 2001, Chebbi et al 2020, Demirkaya et al 2020).

Lifestyle risk factors may also contribute to disease susceptibility. A 2004 meta-analysis examining the risk of cigarette smoking, demonstrated an increased risk of SLE in current smokers (Costenbader et al 2004, Jiang et al 2015). Active smokers with SLE have also been shown to have increased disease activity, severity, and organ involvement (Ghaussy et al 2003, Rubin et al 2005, Ho et al 2005, Mont et al 1997).

Environmental and occupational risk factors such as exposure to metals, pesticides, particulates, such as silica, and other chemical agents have also been associated with increased risk of SLE (Miller et al 2012, Kamen 2014).

The main existing treatment options:

Given the individual variability in SLE manifestations, there is no single treatment paradigm, and a tailored, multidisciplinary strategy is required that adjusts to patients' individual clinical manifestations. The 2019 update of the European League Against Rheumatism recommendations for the management of SLE advises that treatment goals

include long-term survival, prevention of organ damage, and optimisation of health-related quality of life (Fanouriakis et al 2019). Healthcare providers may start with the lowest dose of the least toxic medicine to treat the highest concern manifestation. For mild disease, first line treatments include antimalarials (eg, hydroxychloroquine) and oral corticosteroids (e.g., prednisone).

Treatment options for moderate to severe disease and refractory disease (in addition to antimalarials and oral corticosteroids) include immunosuppressants (methotrexate, azathioprine, and mycophenolate mofetil), biologics (belimumab), calcineurin inhibitors, and chemotherapy (cyclophosphamide). Rituximab is considered in severe, organ-threatening refractory cases (Fanouriakis et al 2019).

Most current therapies are non-specific and inhibit broad inflammatory pathways that are not always relevant to SLE pathogenesis, leading to significant toxicity and organ damage (Lichtman et al 2012). Long-term use of hydroxychloroquine can cause retinopathy and poor adherence to treatment remains an issue with this drug (Fanouriakis et al 2019). Steroids are powerful immunosuppressant and anti-inflammatory agents that remain a mainstay of treatment for mild to severe disease (Apostolopoulos and Morand 2017). Although steroids provide benefits in SLE, over time, organ damage from steroid use increases. Chronic steroid use is a contributing factor in long-term morbidity and early cardiovascular mortality (Petri 2001, Ruiz-Arruza et al 2014, Al Sawah et al 2015) and the risk of irreversible organ damage increases with steroid dose (Petri et al 2012, Thamer et al 2009). The use of immunosuppressants is associated with an increased risk of infection, malignancy, cardiovascular disease, and bone marrow suppression. In addition, immunosuppressants are not effective in all patients for all manifestations of SLE.

In the EU, belimumab (BenlystaTM) is the only medicine approved for SLE in the last 60 years. Belimumab, a neutralising anti-B-lymphocyte stimulator mAb, was approved by the EMA in 2011, for the treatment of adult patients with active, autoantibody-positive SLE with a high degree of disease activity (eg, positive anti-dsDNA and low complement) despite standard therapy (Benlysta SmPC). It targets one pathway, while patients are likely to have different underlying immunopathological pathways driving their SLE disease manifestations (Dörner and Furie 2019). As such, it is not effective in all patients.

Natural history of the indicated condition in the <untreated> population, including mortality and morbidity:

Systemic lupus erythematosus is a chronic inflammatory connective tissue disease that affects multiple organs such as the joints, kidney, skin, mucous membranes, and blood vessel walls (Ruiz-Irastorza et al 2001). The manifestations and progression of SLE are unpredictable and include periods of chronic activity, clinically inactive periods, and

phases with heightened disease activity ('disease flares') (Györi et al 2017). Uncontrolled, ongoing disease activity over time has been associated with poorer outcomes such as organ damage and coronary artery disease in SLE (Ibañez et al 2003, Ibañez et al 2005). Systemic lupus erythematosus is associated with significant morbidity, which impacts quality of life (Holloway et al 2014) and life expectancy (Moss et al 2002, Bernatsky et al 2006) and imposes a significant economic burden (Drenkard et al 2014, Holloway et al 2014).

Important co-morbidities:

Patients with SLE are at increased risk of developing cardiovascular disease (Ward 1999, Fischer et al 2004, Bernatsky et al 2006), stroke (Mok et al 2009), osteoporosis (Ramsey-Goldman et al 1999, Yee et al 2005, Almehed et al 2007), infection (Gladman et al 2002, Bosch et al 2006, Goldblatt et al 2009, Mosca et al 2010), malignancies (Choi et al 2017, Tessier-Cloutier et al 2014), and other comorbidities.

Prospective cohort studies in patients with SLE have identified increased standardised incidence rates for several malignancies compared with the general population (Apor et al 2014, Goobie et al 2015). Bernatsky et al 2013 reported a SIR for all malignancies in patients with SLE of 1.14 (95% CI: 1.05, 1.23); for haematologic malignancies, SIR of 3.02 (95% CI:2.48, 3.63) (Bernatsky et al 2013).

Lupus nephritis is a frequent cause of SLE-associated morbidity and mortality. Renal involvement occurs in 40% to 70% of patients, and 10% to 20% progress to end-stage renal disease (Bernatsky et al 2006, Kasitanon et al 2006, Ward 2009, Hanly et al 2011). End-stage renal failure can be a consequence of lupus nephritis (Hui et al 2013).

Mortality rates from lupus have improved with earlier diagnosis and better treatment; however, patients with SLE still experience disease flares that are interspersed with periods of reduced disease activity (Urowitz et al 2008, Chambers et al 2009, Bertsias et al 2010, Ceccarelli et al 2015). The rate and severity of flares may contribute to disease outcomes and organ damage. About half of all patients with SLE will have some form of organ damage within 5 years of SLE diagnosis (Gladman et al 2013, Leuchten et al 2014).

2.2 MODULE SII: NON-CLINICAL PART OF THE SAFETY SPECIFICATION

Key safety findings from non-clinical studies and relevance to human usage

2.2.1 Summary of key findings from non-clinical data

Toxicity

Cynomolgus monkey was selected as the pharmacologically relevant species for non-clinical safety assessment based on anifrolumab binding and neutralisation activity in monkey cells. Anifrolumab cross-reacts with cynomolgus monkey IFNAR1 on peripheral blood mononuclear cells with a similar binding affinity compared to human IFNAR1. In addition, anifrolumab has shown comparable ability to neutralise the biological activity of available recombinant cynomolgus monkey IFN- α subtypes on monkey cells expressing monkey IFNAR1 compared to the same human IFN- α subtypes on human cells expressing human IFNAR1. Anifrolumab does not bind to murine IFNAR1 and does not inhibit the biological activity of murine IFN- α . Based on these data, the rodent was not considered a pharmacologically relevant species. The species specificity of anifrolumab precluded direct evaluation of carcinogenicity in rodents.

Key issues identified from acute or repeat-dose toxicity studies

No adverse anifrolumab findings were seen following single IV administration of up to 100 mg/kg or single SC administration of 5 mg/kg in cynomolgus monkeys, which are considered toxicologically relevant dose levels.

In a single-/repeated-dose toxicity study (study 7140-123), one animal of a cohort of 3 animals that received a repeated (Days 1, 37, and 50) 5 mg/kg IV dose exhibited signs consistent with a hypersensitivity response that worsened with each dose but were relieved by administration of IV antihistamine. Investigative and exploratory analyses (cytokine analyses [serum] and isotyping, and specificity characterisation of the ADA response) conducted in an effort to identify the underlying mechanism of the apparent hypersensitivity response did not reveal any conclusive information beyond the association with the development of ADA response.

This isolated case of hypersensitivity-like reaction was not reproducible in the subsequent 4-week or 39-week repeated-dose studies (study SNBL.263.01 and study 7140-129, respectively).

In study 7140-129, following weekly IV infusion (5 or 50 mg/kg/week) or SC injection (15 or 60 mg/kg/week) for 39 weeks, focal arteritis was observed in small- and medium-sized arteries of several organs in 5 of the 24 anifrolumab-dosed male animals. No arteritis was evident in male control animals or in female animals regardless of treatment group. Findings were less pronounced and generally less widespread in animals in the recovery phase, following a 13-week dose-free period. The NOAEL for anifrolumab in females is considered to be 50 mg/kg/week IV and 60 mg/kg/week SC, approximately 4-fold higher than the highest dose administered in clinical trials. For males, it is the same if the observed arteritis is not factored into the NOAEL determination. If the observed arteritis is factored into the NOAEL for males is less than 5 mg/kg/week IV and 15

mg/kg/week SC; in that case, there is no safety margin for males. Given the known immunogenicity of anifrolumab in non-human primates, a possible explanation is that the vascular findings are the result of a species-specific, chronic immune-mediated reaction in the animals against a foreign human protein possibly related to formation of immune complexes and, as a result, its relevance to human safety is unknown. This explanation is supported by recent literature abstracts describing similar vascular lesions in monkeys dosed with human mAbs without previously identified vascular targets. In those cases, the findings were considered likely due to deposits of ADA/drug complexes (Bussiere and Johnson 2010, Todd 2010). The arteritis findings in the anifrolumab study may likewise be a consequence of species-specific immunogenicity. However, a possibility of other factors than production of antibodies to anifrolumab cannot be ruled out.

Reproductive/developmental toxicity

There is a wealth of information on the harmful effects of increased level of IFNs during pregnancy. The literature suggests that elevated type I IFNs could negatively impact pregnancy, maternal-fetal tolerance, and development (Yockey et al 2018, De Jesus et al 2015, Andrade et al 2015). However, there is little published evidence about the adverse effects of blockade of IFN signalling on the establishment, maintenance, and induction of maternal-fetal tolerance. The reported literature notes a lack of developmental defects in mice deficient for type I IFN receptor (Muller et al 1994, Hwang et al 1995). Similarly, deficiency in IFN- β (IFNB) in mice does not result in any impact to growth and development, though the mice are unable to mount an antiviral defence (Takaoka et al 2000, Deonarain et al 2000). Alpha/beta IFN and gamma IFN exert widely overlapping biological effects. Mice have been generated with a combined receptor defect (IFNAR -/-, IFN gamma receptor -/-; [AG129 mice]; Van den Broek et al 1995). As with mice with the individual mutations, AG129 mice had no apparent anomalies. These double-knockout mice (AG129) were healthy by 12 months of age and showed no gross abnormalities in hematological status, in the major lymphocyte subsets, or in constitutive major histocompatibility complex expression. The ability of deficient mice in these studies to reproduce suggests that type I IFN is not required for successful pregnancy.

Reproductive toxicity in cynomolgus monkeys: Fertility parameters were evaluated in sexually mature cynomolgus monkeys in the 39-week IV and SC repeat-dose toxicity study (study 7140-129). No adverse anifrolumab-related effects on menses or semen analyses or testicular staging parameters were observed. Reproductive organ weights, and histopathology of reproductive tissues were not impacted by anifrolumab administration. Fertility parameters were not adversely impacted following repeated administration of anifrolumab for 9 months at doses up to 50 mg/kg/week IV and 60 mg/kg/week SC. These findings suggest that the reproductive risks associated with anifrolumab administration are low.

Developmental toxicity in cynomolgus monkeys: No adverse effects of anifrolumab on pregnant, neonatal, or infant cynomolgus monkeys were observed in an enhanced peri- and post-natal developmental toxicology study in cynomolgus monkeys with IV anifrolumab (study SNBL.263.11). There was no effect on offspring growth and no structural or functional abnormalities were detected in offspring. Embryo-fetal losses (including abortion [on or before GD135] and in utero embryo-fetal death) in the anifrolumab enhanced pre- and post-natal development study occurred in 1/16 (6.3%), 5/17 (29.4%), and 3/16 (18.8%) females in the control, 30 mg/kg (low), and 60 mg/kg (high) groups, respectively. However, these values were within the testing facility's historical control range $(14.2 \pm 10.2\%)$, historical control range minimum to maximum range 0.0 to 33.3%) and did not attain statistical significance. Eight of the 9 fetal losses occurred before GD50, the period where the incidence of spontaneous embryo-fetal loss is the highest (Fujimoto et al 1983) and the timeframe when anifrolumab exposure to the fetus is anticipated to be the lowest. It cannot be concluded that the apparent increases in abortion resulted from treatment with anifrolumab. Given the spontaneous occurrence of these events, this model is insensitive to reveal minor or moderate effects on fetal survival. The number of surviving infants (ie, after removing all embryo-fetal losses, stillbirths, and post-birth infant deaths) was 11/16 in the control group, 10/17 in the 30 mg/kg group, and 8/16 in the 60 mg/kg group in this study. These survival numbers were within the anticipated distribution of live infant numbers based on Monte Carlo simulation analysis (Jarvis et al 2010). Finally, based on the available data, the potential effect of anifrolumab on conception and implantation cannot be excluded.

In the offspring, growth and development of the infants were not affected by anifrolumab exposure during pregnancy and no immunotoxicity was observed. The NOAEL was considered 60 mg/kg/dose IV, the highest dose tested. These findings suggest that the developmental toxicity risks associated with anifrolumab administration are low.

Genotoxicity

Anifrolumab is a mAb composed entirely of naturally occurring amino acids and contains no inorganic or synthetic organic linkers or other non-protein portions. Thus, it is highly unlikely that anifrolumab would react directly with DNA or other chromosomal material, and since anifrolumab is a large protein molecule, it is not expected to cross the nuclear or mitochondrial membranes. Based on consideration of the product attributes and pharmaceutical class to which anifrolumab belongs, genotoxic risks associated with anifrolumab administration are low.

Carcinogenicity

In the cynomolgus monkey toxicology studies, no evidence was observed of proliferative or pre-neoplastic changes, following repeated weekly administration of anifrolumab at doses up to 50 mg/kg IV and 60 mg/kg SC for 39 weeks. Anifrolumab does not bind to murine IFNAR1 and does not inhibit the biological activity of murine IFN- α , thus precluding a direct evaluation of anifrolumab carcinogenic risk in a 2-year rodent bioassay.

Alternative non-clinical models to evaluate carcinogenic risk for anifrolumab were considered; however, none of these models could assess carcinogenic risk associated with anifrolumab administration; at best they could identify a potential risk. This potential risk had already been identified based on the existing type I IFN non-clinical literature, including studies with IFNAR1- and IFNAR2-deficient mice and mice administered IFN- α/β and anti-IFN- α/β antibodies, that included the MAR1-5A3 antibody (representing the available alternative models to the Sponsor for carcinogenicity risk assessment) to characterise carcinogenic potential of IFNAR blockade in rodents. Due to the limited species specificity of anifrolumab, none of the alternative models could evaluate the quantitative or dose-dependent risk of carcinogenicity associated with anifrolumab administration.

The direct carcinogenic risks associated with anifrolumab administration are not known. Published non-clinical literature identifies a potential risk. Administration of murine IFN- α/β enhanced anti-tumour effects in mice that contained transplanted tumours. In IFNAR1- and IFNAR2-deficient mice or mice treated with analogous murine anti-IFNAR1 or IFN- α/β antibodies, decreased host defence to tumours was observed. The relevance of these experimental findings in mouse models for malignancy risk in humans is unknown.

2.2.2 Safety pharmacology

No standalone studies were conducted. Safety pharmacology endpoints were included in repeat-dose toxicity studies. There were no anifrolumab-related adverse findings in any of the safety pharmacologic parameters assessed in any non-clinical safety study.

2.3 MODULE SIII: CLINICAL TRIAL EXPOSURE

Exposure to anifrolumab IV (150, 300, and/or 1000 mg) in patients with moderate to severe SLE is summarised by duration (Table 2-1), by age group and sex (Table 2-2), by dose (Table 2-3), and by race and ethnic origin (Table 2-4). In each table, the exposure data are presented by the pools used to evaluate the safety of anifrolumab IV in patients with SLE: the primary safety pool, supportive safety pool, Phase III long-term safety and the all anifrolumab pool. Unless stated otherwise, exposure data and safety evaluations are based on data up to and including 31 December 2023.

• Primary and supportive safety pools (anifrolumab 300 mg): The safety evaluation of

anifrolumab IV 300 mg Q4W over 52 weeks was based on a primary safety pool (Phase III placebo-controlled studies D3461C00004 [study 04] and D3461C00005 [study 05]) and a supportive safety pool (study 04, study 05, and a Phase II placebo-controlled study, CD-IA-MEDI-546-1013 [study 1013]). Patients randomised to receive other doses of anifrolumab (150 mg in study 05 or 1000 mg in study 1013) were not included in the primary or supportive safety pools.

- Phase III long-term safety (anifrolumab 300 mg): The evaluation of the long-term safety profile of anifrolumab IV 300 mg Q4W was based on the Phase III long-term safety data: studies 04, 05, and 09. Study 09 is an extension study that enrolled patients who completed study 04 or study 05. Patients randomised to anifrolumab 150 mg in study 05 were not included in the Phase III long-term data.
- All anifrolumab pool (anifrolumab 150, 300, and 1000 mg): The all anifrolumab safety pool included patients who received any dose of anifrolumab in studies 04, 05, 09, 1013, and CD-IA-MEDI-546-1145 study [study 1145]. Study 1145 was an extension study for patients who completed study 1013. The exposure data includes data up to 19 March 2020.

Pool			
	Duration of exposure	Patients n(%)	Person time (patient-years)
SLE primary safety pool	$\geq 1 \text{ day}$	360 (100.0)	326.0
	\geq 12 weeks	346 (96.1)	324.2
	\geq 24 weeks	326 (90.6)	317.5
	\geq 36 weeks	311 (86.4)	309.2
	\geq 48 weeks	299 (83.1)	299.4
	\geq 52 weeks	238 (66.1)	239.5
	Total person time	NA	326.0
SLE supportive safety pool	≥ 1 day	459 (100.0)	419.4
	\geq 12 weeks	441 (96.1)	417.1
	\geq 24 weeks	420 (91.5)	410.1
	\geq 36 weeks	403 (87.8)	400.8
	\geq 48 weeks	387 (84.3)	387.9
	\geq 52 weeks	315 (68.6)	317.2
	Total person time	NA	419.4
SLE Phase III long-term	$\geq 1 \text{ day}$	435 (100.0)	1528.4
safety data	\geq 24 weeks	435 (100.0)	1528.4
	\geq 52 weeks	435 (100.0)	1528.4

Table 2-1Duration of exposure (pooled clinical study data)

	Version:6
Succession	Number:2

Pool			
	Duration of exposure	Patients n(%)	Person time (patient-years)
	\geq 76 weeks	413 (94.9)	1501.1
	≥ 104 weeks	388 (89.2)	1458.9
	\geq 128 weeks	366 (84.1)	1409.9
	\geq 156 weeks	334 (76.8)	1322.1
	\geq 180 weeks	317 (72.9)	1266.7
	\geq 208 weeks	244 (56.1)	984.4
	Total person time	NA	1528.4
SLE all anifrolumab	$\geq 1 \text{ day}$	837 (100.0)	2091.9
safety pool	\geq 24 weeks	766 (91.5)	2074.0
	\geq 52 weeks	694 (82.9)	2023.3
	\geq 76 weeks	606 (72.4)	1926.8
	\geq 104 weeks	548 (65.5)	1827.5
	\geq 128 weeks	487 (58.2)	1690.9
	\geq 156 weeks	375 (44.8)	1385.1
	\geq 180 weeks	237 (28.3)	949.3
	\geq 208 weeks	147 (17.6)	614.4
	Total person time	NA	2091.9

Table 2-1Duration of exposure (pooled clinical study data)

NA Not applicable; SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus.

The all anifrolumab safety pool include data from study 09 up to 19 March 2020

Table 2-2Exposure by age group and sex (pooled clinical study data)

Pool	Age group	Patients n (%)			Person Time (patient- years)		
		М	F	All	М	F	All
SLE primary	Paediatric (< 18 years)	0	0	0	0	0	0
safety pool	Adults (18-64 years)	27 (100.0)	317 (95.2)	344 (95.6)	25.1	287.4	312.5
	Elderly people (≥ 65 years)	0	16 (4.8)	16 (4.4)	0	13.5	13.5
	Total	27 (100.0)	333 (100.0)	360 (100.0)	25.1	300.9	326.0
SLE	Paediatric (< 18 years)	0	0	0	0	0	0
supportive safety	Adults (18-64 years)	33 (100.0)	409 (96.0)	442 (96.3)	31.2	373.7	404.9
poor	Elderly people (≥ 65 years)	0	17 (4.0)	17 (3.7)	0	14.5	14.5
	Total	33 (100.0)	426 (100.0)	459 (100.0)	31.2	388.2	419.4
SLE Phase III	Paediatric (< 18 years)	0	0	0	0	0	0
long-term safety data	Adults (18-64 years)	33 (100.0)	386 (96.0)	419 (96.3)	117. 3	1352.6	1469. 9

Pool	Age group	Patients n (%)				Person Time (patient- years)		
		М	F	All	М	F	All	
	Elderly people (≥ 65 years)	0	16 (4.0)	16 (3.7)	0	58.6	58.6	
	Total	33 (100.0)	402 (100.0)	435 (100.0)	117. 3	1411.2	1528. 4	
SLE all	Paediatric (< 18 years)	0	0	0	0	0	0	
anifrolumab safety pool	Adults (18-64 years)	61 (100.0)	750 (96.6)	811 (96.9)	153. 4	1873.2	2026. 6	
	Elderly people (\geq 65 years)	0	26 (3.4)	26 (3.1)	0	65.3	65.3	
	Total	61 (100.0)	776 (100.0)	837 (100.0)	153. 4	1938.5	2091. 9	

Table 2-2Exposure by age group and sex (pooled clinical study data)

F Female; M Male; SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus.

The all anifrolumab safety pool include data from study 09 up to 19 March 2020.

Table 2-3Exposure by dose (pooled clinical study data)

Pool	Dose of Exposure	Patients n (%)	Person time (patient- years)
SLE primary safety pool	300 mg Q4W	360 (100.0)	326.0
	Total	360 (100.0)	326.0
SLE supportive safety	300 mg Q4W	459 (100.0)	419.4
pool	Total	459 (100.0)	419.4
SLE Phase III	300 mg Q4W	435 (100.0)	1528.4
long-term safety data	Total	435 (100.0)	1528.4
SLE all anifrolumab	150 mg Q4W	24 (2.9)	14.4
safety pool	300 mg Q4W	563 (67.3)	1335.4
	1000 mg Q4W	250 (29.9)	742.1
	Total	837 (100.0)	2091.9

The all anifrolumab safety pool include data from study 09 up to 19 March 2020.

Patients who received 2 different doses of anifrolumab are counted in the dose category of the highest dose received. Q4W Every 4 weeks; SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus.

Table 2-4Exposure by race (pooled clinical study data)

Pool	Race	Patients n (%)	Person time (patient- years)
SLE primary safety pool	White	235 (65.3)	214.4
	Black or African American	46 (12.8)	39.3
	Asian	41 (11.4)	38.5

Pool	Race	Patients n (%)	Person time (patient- years)
	Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander	0	0
	American Indian or Alaska Native	4 (1.1)	3.6
	Other	26 (7.2)	23.9
	Missing	8 (2.2)	6.4
	Total	360 (100.0)	326.0
SLE supportive safety	White	270 (58.8)	246.5
pool	Black or African American	65 (14.2)	57.4
	Asian	44 (9.6)	41.5
	Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander	0	0
	American Indian or Alaska Native	8 (1.7)	7.3
	Other	64 (13.9)	60.4
	Missing	8 (1.7)	6.4
	Total	459 (100.0)	419.4
SLE Phase III long- term safety data	White	288 (66.2)	1018.2
	Black or African American	55 (12.6)	186.4
	Asian	51 (11.7)	180.0
	Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander	0	0
	American Indian or Alaska Native	3 (0.7)	9.4
	Other	31 (7.1)	112.3
	Missing	7 (1.6)	22.2
	Total	435 (100.0)	1528.4
SLE all anifrolumab	White	485 (57.9)	1202.1
safety pool	Black or African American	113 (13.5)	272.7
	Asian	75 (9.0)	190.9
	Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander	0	0
	American Indian or Alaska Native	9 (1.1)	17.3
	Other	145 (17.3)	388.7
	Missing	10 (1.2)	20.2
	Total	837 (100.0)	2091.9

Table 2-4Exposure by race (pooled clinical study data)

The race category Other includes Latin American patients in study 1013 who did not identify with the race definitions provided.

The anifrolumab safety pool include data from study 09 up to 19 March 2020.

SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus.

2.4 MODULE SIV: Populations not studied in clinical trials

2.4.1 Exclusion Criteria in pivotal clinical studies within the development programme

Pregnant or lactating females

Reason for exclusion:

For ethical reasons, this potentially vulnerable population was excluded from all anifrolumab clinical studies. For the same reason, any patient who became pregnant during a study was discontinued from treatment with IP. Therefore, there are no data of patients taking anifrolumab throughout the entirety of their pregnancy, and there is no data on the effect of anifrolumab on patients who are breastfeeding or their offspring.

Is it considered to be included as missing information: Yes

Paediatric patients aged less than 18 years

Reason for exclusion:

Patients aged less than 18 years were excluded from the anifrolumab clinical programme since it was not considered appropriate to expose paediatric patients to anifrolumab until after the benefit-risk profile was established for the intended adult population.

Is it considered to be included as missing information: No

Rationale:

Use of anifrolumab in paediatric patients is not part of the indication, therefore this population is not relevant for missing information.

Elderly patients aged greater than 70 years

Reason for exclusion:

Anifrolumab has not been specifically studied in elderly patients (> 70 years of age). Comorbid conditions in elderly patients may confound assessment of safety. Thus, this population was excluded in all anifrolumab clinical studies.

Is it considered to be included as missing information: No

Rationale:

Based on a population PK analysis that included 20 patients $(3\%) \ge 65$ years of age, age did not impact the clearance of anifrolumab (age range: 18 to 69 years). Additionally, no overall differences in safety or effectiveness were observed between older and younger patients who received anifrolumab in clinical trials.

Therefore, there is no clinical evidence to suggest a different safety profile for anifrolumab in elderly patients > 70 years of age than in younger patients. Therefore, this population is not considered missing information.

Patients with hepatic impairment

Reason for exclusion:

These patients were excluded in order to protect potentially vulnerable patients and to avoid factors that may confound a complete understanding of the safety data.

Is it considered to be included as missing information: No

Rationale:

Anifrolumab is eliminated by a target-mediated non-linear pathway through binding to IFNAR1 as well as a non-specific linear pathway in the reticuloendothelial system. Generally, clearance of monoclonal antibodies by the liver is considered to be a minor pathway; physiologically-based pharmacokinetic modelling estimates have found the liver's contribution to eliminating endogenous IgG to be around 16% (Keizer et al 2010).

There is no scientific rationale to suspect that the safety profile of patients with moderate to severe hepatic impairment may differ significantly to that characterised so far for the general target population. Therefore, this population is not relevant for missing information.

Patients with severe renal impairment

Reason for exclusion:

These patients were excluded in order to protect potentially vulnerable patients and to avoid factors that may confound a complete understanding of the safety data.

Is it considered to be included as missing information: No

Rationale:

There is no scientific rationale, based on anifrolumab's clearance mechanisms, to suspect the safety profile of anifrolumab in patients with severe renal impairment (due to lupus nephritis or any other cause) may differ from the general target population. Anifrolumab is eliminated by a target-mediated non-linear pathway through binding to IFNAR1 as well as a non-specific linear pathway in the reticuloendothelial system.

Additionally, there is no clinical evidence, based on patients with mild to moderate renal disease, to suggest that the safety profile of anifrolumab in patients with renal impairment will differ from patients with normal renal function. Although patients with severe renal disease were not included in the SLE clinical programme, patients with mild or moderate renal disease (n = 427) were enrolled. There were no differences in PK observed for patients with mild to moderate renal disease compared to patients with normal renal function. In addition to the studies in the SLE clinical programme, there is an ongoing study of anifrolumab in patients with lupus nephritis (eGFR \geq 35 mL/min/1.73 m2 at baseline).

As there is no scientific rationale or clinical evidence to suggest the safety profile of anifrolumab will differ in patients with severe renal impairment, this population is not relevant for missing information.

History of anaphylaxis to any human gamma globulin therapy

Reason for exclusion:

Anifrolumab is a human mAb and its activity may be associated with hypersensitivity reactions, including anaphylaxis. Patients with a known allergy or reaction to any component of the drug formulation were excluded from clinical trials to ensure they were not exposed to product for which they had a documented allergy.

Is it considered to be included as missing information: No

Rationale:

Use of anifrolumab in this population is not anticipated and, therefore, it is not relevant as missing information.

History of cancer or current ongoing cancer treatment

Reason for exclusion:

Treatments that induce immune suppression may impair immune surveillance and thereby increase the risk for development of malignancies. Patients with a history of cancer (apart from successfully-treated [a] squamous or basal cell carcinoma of the skin or [b] cervical CIS) were excluded in order to avoid factors that may confound a complete understanding of the

safety data of anifrolumab and ensure interpretability of data. These patients were also excluded because they were likely taking medications that were protocol prohibited.

Is it considered to be included as missing information: No

Rationale:

Patients with a history of non-melanoma skin cancer or of high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (cervical intraepithelial neoplasia Grade 3, CIS) treated with curative therapy were not excluded from the clinical development programme studies based on safety, and there is no scientific rationale to suspect that the safety profile in this population of "cured" cancer is different to that of the general SLE population.

Among patients with ongoing cancer treatment, the anticipated use of anifrolumab is expected to be very low and further study of anifrolumab in those patients is not warranted. Malignancy and its treatments, including oncology drugs and radiation, add to the immunosuppressive burden experienced by patients with SLE from the disease itself (SLE) and its standard of care treatments. This burden increases the risk of infections that may be more frequent, more severe, or opportunistic. In addition, pharmacokinetic and immunologic interactions with chemotherapeutic and immunomodulating therapies are possible with potentially unpredictable and possibly harmful outcomes, making further study of anifrolumab in patients taking those medications not feasible. Therefore, further characterisation of patients with SLEundergoing cancer treatment with the addition of anifrolumab is neither warranted nor feasible and is not relevant for consideration as missing information.

History of, risk factors for, or recent diagnosis of certain clinically significant infections

Reason for exclusion:

Patients with SLE have an increased risk of infection. Patients with ongoing or recurrent clinically significant infections were excluded so as not to confound a complete understanding of the safety of anifrolumab and to ensure interpretability of the data.

Patients were excluded if they had (a) a primary immunodeficiency, splenectomy, or any underlying condition that predisposed the patient to infection (aside from SLE), (b) a positive test for human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis B or C, or (c) history of a severe herpes infection. Patients with recent histories of other clinically significant infections were excluded depending on the infection type and the time elapsed since resolution. Patients were also required to meet TB criteria for inclusion in the studies: no history of active TB and a negative test for latent TB or appropriate treatment for latent TB prior to randomisation.

Is it considered to be included as missing information: No

Rationale:

Patients with immunosuppressive diseases being treated with immunosuppressive therapies are known to be at risk for infections. Healthcare providers will exercise medical judgement when advising patients with active infections or risk factors for clinically significant infections whether to begin or continue treatment with anifrolumab. Patients will be carefully monitored for exacerbations of underlying infections (see SmPC Section 4.4) and, in addition, herpes zoster is listed in SmPC Section 4.8. As healthcare providers are likely to treat underlying infections prior to adding immunosuppressants, use of anifrolumab in patients with clinically significant infections is expected to be low. Accordingly, utilisation of anifrolumab in patients with ongoing or recurrent infections, is not missing information.

History of, or current diagnosis of, a clinically significant non-SLE-related vasculitis syndrome

Reason for exclusion:

In a repeat-dose toxicology study in cynomolgus monkeys, new events of focal arteritis were observed in a subset of male animals after receiving anifrolumab treatment. Therefore, patients with either a history of, or current diagnosis of, a clinically significant

non-SLE-related vasculitis syndrome were excluded in order to mitigate this possible risk and to avoid factors that may confound a complete understanding of the potential association of anifrolumab and vasculitis.

Is it considered to be included as missing information: No

Rationale:

There is no clinical evidence of an association between anifrolumab and a new diagnosis of non-SLE-related vasculitis in clinical study patients. There is no scientific rationale to suspect that the safety profile of anifrolumab in patients with a history of vasculitis may differ from that characterised so far for the general target population. Therefore, this population is not considered missing information.

Diagnosis of mixed connective tissue disease, any history of overlap syndromes of SLE and systemic sclerosis, or history of uncontrolled or severe neuropsychiatric SLE

Reason for exclusion:

Patients were excluded in order to avoid factors that may confound a complete understanding of the safety data of anifrolumab and ensure interpretability of data.

Is it considered to be included as missing information: No

Rationale:

There is no scientific rationale to suspect that the safety profile of anifrolumab in patients with these diseases may differ from that characterised so far for the general target population.

History of, or current evidence of, suicidal ideation

Reason for exclusion:

Compared to the general population, patients with SLE have a higher rate of depression and suicide. Patients with history or presence of suicidal ideation were excluded from the clinical studies to help ensure patient safety during participation in the study and to ensure that unstable medical conditions or concomitant therapy for the condition did not confound the assessment of the safety of anifrolumab.

Is it considered to be included as missing information: No

Rationale:

There is no scientific rationale to suspect that the safety profile of anifrolumab in patients with a history or evidence of suicidal ideation may differ to that characterised so far for the general target population.

History of, or current diagnosis of, catastrophic or severe anti-phospholipid syndrome within one year prior to study entry

Reason for exclusion:

Patients with a history of, or current diagnosis of, catastrophic or severe anti-phospholipid syndrome within one year prior to signing the informed consent form were excluded. Patients with anti-phospholipid syndrome adequately controlled by anticoagulant therapy for at least 3 months were eligible for the Phase III studies. These exclusions were designed to help ensure patient safety during participation in the study and to ensure that unstable medical conditions or concomitant therapy for the condition did not confound the assessment of the safety of anifrolumab.

Is it considered to be included as missing information: No

Rationale:

There is no scientific rationale to suspect that the safety profile of anifrolumab in patients with catastrophic or severe anti-phospholipid syndrome may differ to that characterised so far for the general targeted population.

Use of live/attenuated vaccines

Reason for exclusion:

Patients were excluded in order to avoid factors that may confound a complete understanding of the safety data of anifrolumab and ensure interpretability of data.

Is it considered to be included as missing information: No

Rationale:

Use of anifrolumab concurrently with live/attenuated vaccines is not recommended in the SmPC; therefore, this population is not relevant for inclusion as missing information.

2.4.2 Limitations to detect adverse reactions in clinical trial development programmes

The clinical development programme is unlikely to detect rare adverse reactions or adverse reactions with a long latency, or those caused by prolonged or cumulative exposure.

2.4.3 Limitations in respect to populations typically under-represented in clinical trial development programmes

Table 2-5Exposure of special populations included or not in clinical trial
development programmes

Type of special population	Exposure
Pregnant women	Not included in the development programme; however, despite the exclusion criteria, a small number of patients have reported pregnancies during the studies.
Breastfeeding women	Not included in the development programme
Patient with relevant comorbidities:	
Patients with hepatic impairment:	Not included in the development programme
• AST or ALT $> 2.0 \times ULN$	
• Bilirubin > ULN	
Patients with mild or moderate renal impairment	 427 patients who were exposed to any dose of anifrolumab had mild or moderate kidney disease at baseline (eGFR 30-89 mL/min/1.73 m²), in the completed SLE studies (studies 04, 05, and 09).
Patients with severe renal impairment (serum creatinine > 2.0 mg/dL)	Not included in the development programme.

ALT Alanine aminotransferase; AST Aspartate aminotransferase; eGFR estimated glomerular filtration rate; SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus; ULN Upper limit of normal.

2.5 MODULE SV: POST-AUTHORISATION EXPERIENCE

2.5.1 Method used to calculate exposure

The post-marketing patient exposure data presented here is based on SAPHNELO's monthly actual ex-factory sales volume from each local marketing company. These data represent all *SAPHNELO* formulation delivered to various distribution channels (e.g., wholesalers, pharmacies, etc) worldwide.

The sales volume is provided as the number of vials distributed. The estimated post-marketing patient exposure data for the reporting period is an approximation based on the assumption that each patient received 1 vial (300mg/2 mL) of SAPHNELO IV Q4W and 13 vials in total per year (52weeks). Therefore, a patient-year worth of exposure is calculated by dividing number of vials by 13 (13 vials of 300mg/2 ml SAPHNELO per patient year [PY]).

The current methodology does not distinguish between sales that are related to initial prescriptions versus those related to repeat prescriptions. Therefore, it is not possible to estimate the number of patients exposed to SAPHNELO. More detailed patient-level data (eg, gender, ethnicity, age category, off-label use, specific populations, etc) are not available.

The estimated exposure of SAPHNELO is calculated from the number of vials that have been delivered to wholesalers worldwide, including those provided for the early access programmes.

2.5.2 Exposure

Cumulative global post-marketing patient exposure to SAPHNELO (300 mg/2 mL per vial) since launch to 31 December 2023 has been estimated to be approximately 10343.67 patient years.

2.6 MODULE SVI: ADDITIONAL EU REQUIREMENTS FOR THE SAFETY SPECIFICATION

Since anifrolumab is administered via IV infusion in a healthcare setting, the risk for misuse is low.

2.7 MODULE SVII: IDENTIFIED AND POTENTIAL RISKS

2.7.1 Identification of safety concerns in the initial RMP submission

2.7.1.1 Risk not considered important for inclusion in the list of safety concerns in the RMP

Reasons for not including an identified or potential risk in the list of safety concerns in the RMP.

Risks with minimal clinical impact on patients (in relation to the severity of the indication treated):

- Respiratory tract infection, upper respiratory tract infection, and bronchitis are identified risks. In the placebo-controlled Phase II and III SLE studies, patients in the anifrolumab 300 mg group reported more AEs in the Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities system organ class of infections and infestations than patients in the placebo group. The difference in the rates of infections was driven by mild and moderate infections involving the respiratory tract, excluding pneumonia (comparable in both treatment groups). These mild and moderate infections have minimal clinical impact on patients in relation to SLE.
- Infusion related reaction is an identified risk. In the placebo-controlled Phase II and III SLE studies, numerically more patients in the anifrolumab 300 mg group had AEs reported as infusion related reaction than in the placebo group. All infusion related reactions were mild or moderate in intensity and non-serious, and therefore have minimal clinical impact on patients in relation to SLE. In addition, treating physicians are familiar with these types of reactions, which are managed through routine labelling (see SmPC Section 4.4) and clinical practice.

Known risks that require no further characterisation and are followed up via routine pharmacovigilance; namely, through signal detection and adverse reaction reporting:

• Herpes zoster is an identified risk. In the placebo-controlled Phase II and III studies, herpes zoster infections were reported in more patients treated with anifrolumab 300 mg (6.1%) than in the placebo group (1.3%). Most cases were mild or moderate in intensity, non-serious, and did not result in discontinuation of IP. Treating physicians are aware there is an increased incidence of herpes zoster in patients with SLE due to the disease and its immunosuppressive treatment and are familiar with the medical management of herpes zoster in this patient population. Hypersensitivity and anaphylactic reactions are identified risks and well-known reactions that can occur with protein-based infusion therapies. These reactions are managed as per routine clinical practice (see SmPC Section 4.4). In the placebo-controlled Phase II and III SLE studies, numerically more patients in the anifrolumab 300 mg group had AEs reported as hypersensitivity than in the placebo group; most were mild or moderate in intensity and non-serious. There was one case of anaphylactic reaction in an anifrolumab- treated patient in the anifrolumab SLE programme.

• Drug/ADA immune complex formation (type III hypersensitivity) can occur with protein-based infusion therapies. Anifrolumab 300 mg administered as an IV infusion is poorly immunogenic in patients with moderate to severe SLE. In the anifrolumab programme, there was no evidence that the formation of ADAs had an impact on any safety variable.

2.7.1.2 Risks considered important for inclusion in the list of safety concerns in the RMP and missing information

Important Potential Risk: Malignancy

Published studies have identified an increased frequency of some malignancies among patients with SLE, particularly for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, leukaemia, and cancer of the vulva, lung, thyroid, and liver. Although there is a decreased risk of other select types of cancer for patients with SLE, the overall cancer risk in SLE is slightly greater compared with the general population (SIR 1.14 per Bernatsky et al 2013; refer to Section 2.1, Module SI, for more details). Serious malignancies can result in decreased quality of life, disability, or mortality.

Treatments that induce immune suppression may impair immune surveillance and thereby increase the risk for initiation or growth acceleration of malignancies. In cynomolgus monkey toxicology studies of up to 39-weeks dosing duration, there were no malignancies observed. No malignancy type was identified in more than one patient enrolled in the anifrolumab development programme to date, with the exception of non-melanoma skin cancers (7 patients) and breast cancer (3 patients), commonly observed in both the general and predominantly female SLE populations.

Malignancies have the potential to result in serious consequences such as disability, fatality, or a detrimental impact on a patient's quality of life, and therefore could impact the benefit-risk profile of anifrolumab.

Important potential risk: Serious infection

The incidence of serious infection was similar between the anifrolumab 300 mg and placebo groups in the supportive safety pool. Across the anifrolumab program, up to 19 March 2020, 4 pneumonia deaths were reported in anifrolumab-treated patients. Serious infections have the to result in serious consequences such as disability, fatality, or a detrimental impact on a patient's quality of life, and therefore could impact the benefit-risk profile of anifrolumab.

Missing information: Use in pregnant and breastfeeding women

Systemic lupus erythematosus affects more females than males, with the female:male ratio

of 8 to 15:1 (Pons-Estel et al 2017). Incidence is highest from 24 to 32 years of age (Pons-Estel et al 2017), while maximal prevalence of SLE is between 45 to 64 years of age for females (Rees et al 2017).

Since SLE affects a high percentage of women who are of child-bearing potential age, it is important to further evaluate the impact of anifrolumab in pregnant or breastfeeding women. For ethical reasons, this potentially vulnerable population was excluded in all anifrolumab clinical studies. In the anifrolumab development programme, females of child-bearing potential were counselled to use 2 effective methods of avoiding pregnancy during study participation. All patients were required to have a negative serum pregnancy test during screening to enroll and a negative urine pregnancy test prior to each administration of IP to continue in the study. However, some patients reported pregnancy. All pregnant patients were discontinued from IP.

Twenty-four (24) patients randomised to receive anifrolumab reported pregnancy during the study period. As patients were discontinued from IP once their pregnancy was known, there are no data of patients taking anifrolumab throughout the entirety of their pregnancy, and there are no data on the effect of anifrolumab on patients who are breastfeeding or their offspring.

As such, use of anifrolumab in pregnant women will be collected in the post-marketing setting through a non-interventional pregnancy study.

Missing information: Effects on responses to inactivated vaccines

The use of inactivated vaccines was not restricted in the study protocols; however, there is insufficient data on whether use of anifrolumab impacts the response to these vaccines. In the Phase II and III studies, vaccine data, such as receipt of the seasonal flu vaccine, were only collected as part of the routine collection of concomitant medications during the studies. It is unknown if the blockade of IFN receptors could have an effect on vaccination responses. As there is insufficient knowledge to determine whether the safety profile for this utilisation differs from that characterised so far, it is considered missing information. The effects on responses to inactivated vaccines are being collected and investigated through an externally-sponsored study.

2.7.2 New safety concerns and reclassification with a submission of an updated RMP

Not Applicable

2.7.3 Details of important identified risks, important potential risks and missing information

2.7.3.1 Presentation of important identified risks and important potential risks

Important Potential Risk: Malignancy

Potential mechanisms:

Type I IFNs may play a role in tumour surveillance. Neutralisation of IFN α/β with a polyclonal antibody in mice has been reported to enhance the growth of transplanted, syngeneic tumour cells that grow progressively in immune-competent hosts (Affabris et al 1987, Gresser et al 1974, Gresser et al 1983). In addition, an antitumor function for exogenously administered type I IFN has been described and used to treat a range of malignancies, including hairy cell leukaemia, melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, and Kaposi sarcoma (Belardelli et al 2002). While blocking type I IFN might be beneficial in controlling IFN-driven autoimmune diseases, the same pathway of suppression might increase the development of malignancies or neoplasms.

Evidence source(s) and strength of evidence:

There is a plausible mechanism of action for how anifrolumab may increase the risk of developing malignancy, although malignancy was not observed in non-clinical primate studies.

Characterisation of the risk:

Across the completed Phase II and III SLE controlled and uncontrolled IV studies of anifrolumab (studies 02, 04, 05, 09, 1013, and 1145), there were 17 malignancies reported in patients who received any dose of anifrolumab. Of those, only non-melanoma skin cancers (n = 7) and breast cancers (n = 3) were reported in more than one patient.

In the 52-week placebo-controlled SLE studies (studies 04, 05, and 1013) at any dose (150, 300, and 1000 mg), malignancies (excluding non-melanoma skin cancers) were observed in 0.67% (5/657) and 0.64% (3/466) of patients receiving anifrolumab and placebo, respectively. Among the 5 malignancies (excluding non-melanoma skin cancers) reported in anifrolumab-treated patients in studies 04, 05, and 1013, there were 2 malignancies reported within 180 days of the first exposure to anifrolumab, which were likely pre-existing. Malignant neoplasm (including non-melanoma skin cancers) was reported for 8/657 (1.2%) patients receiving anifrolumab, compared with 3/466 (0.6%) patients receiving placebo.

The Phase III long-term safety data evaluated in the completed Phase III long-term study, did not suggest any change in the rate of malignancies reported with long-term exposure to anifrolumab, with no temporal patterns observed by yearly intervals of malignancies during treatment. Over up to 4 years of treatment in the Phase III long-term data, the EAIR of any malignancy (including non-melanoma skin cancers) was 0.7 per 100 patient-years in the anifrolumab 300 mg group and 0.7 per 100 patient-years in the placebo group.

Risk factors and risk groups

Patients with SLE are also at increased risk of certain malignancies compared with the general population. Patients with SLE are reported to have an increased risk of haematologic malignancies, particularly non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and leukaemia. In addition, increased risks of cancer of the vulva, lung, thyroid, and possibly liver were suggested (Bernatsky et al 2013). Patients < 40 years old with SLE have a higher relative cancer risk compared with sex and age-appropriate general population rates (Bernatsky et al 2013).

Persistence of viral infections with HPV may occur with increased frequency in patients with SLE. Female patients with SLE have an increased risk of developing abnormal cervical cytology and squamous intraepithelial lesions (and cervical intraepithelial neoplasia) (Nath et al 2007).

Preventability

The general risk of malignancy can be reduced by managing lifestyle factors such as smoking and alcohol use. There is currently no evidence of an increased risk of malignancy for anifrolumab specifically and, therefore, no specific requirements for prevention are recommended. Patients with SLE should be screened (breast and cervix) and vaccinated (ie, HPV) according to national guidelines.

Impact on the risk-benefit balance of the product:

Malignancies have the potential to result in serious consequences such as disability, fatality, or a detrimental impact on a patient's quality of life, and could therefore impact the benefit-risk profile of anifrolumab.

Public health impact

As the impact is to the treated population of patients with SLE only, there is no public health impact.

Important potential risk: Serious infections

Potential mechanisms:

Anifrolumab binds to IFNAR1 and blocks dimerization with IFNAR2; and reduces the number of available IFNAR1 by inducing receptor internalization (Riggs et al 2018). Type I IFNs, including IFN- α and IFN- β , constitute a potent innate defense system against viral infections. Type I IFN (IFN- α and IFN- β) is secreted by virus-infected cells while type II,

immune or IFN-gamma is mainly secreted by T cells, natural killer cells, and macrophages (Le Page et al 2000). Interferons interact with specific cellular receptors, which promote production of second messengers, ultimately leading to expression of antiviral and immune modulatory genes. Therefore, there is a theoretical risk of increased susceptibility to serious infections caused by viruses, bacteria, and fungi during treatment with anifrolumab.

Evidence source(s) and strength of evidence:

Due to the mechanism of action of anifrolumab, it is plausible that anifrolumab may increase the risk of developing certain serious infections. However, the incidence of serious infection was similar between treatment groups in the controlled Phase II and Phase III clinical studies.

Characterisation of the risk:

In clinical studies, a serious infection is any infection that fulfils the regulatory criteria for seriousness: death, life-threatening, in-patient hospitalisation or prolongation of hospitalisation, significant disability, congenital abnormality, or important medical event.

In the supportive safety pool in the 52-week clinical SLE studies, 4.8% (22/459; EAIR: 5.4/100 patient-years) and 5.6% (26/466; EAIR: 6.6/100 patient-years) of patients had any serious infection during treatment in the anifrolumab 300 mg group and the placebo group, respectively; the EAIR risk difference was -1.3 (95% CI: -4.7, 2.1). The most common serious infection by preferred term was pneumonia and similar proportions of patients experienced a serious pneumonia event in the anifrolumab 300 mg group (1.7%) and the placebo group (1.9%).

In the combined data from the 2 Phase III 52-week (studies 04 and 05) trials and the long-term extension study, 11.7% (42/358; EAIR: 4.3/100 patient-years) and 8.9% (32/360; EAIR: 5.8/100 patient-years) of patients had any serious infection through up to 4 years of treatment in the anifrolumab 300 mg group and the placebo group, respectively.

In the Phase III LTE data (studies 04, 05, and 09), there have been 4 reports of pneumonia with fatal outcomes ¹. All 4 patients received anifrolumab. All 4 patients also had concomitant

¹ For one patient in study 09, thrombocytopenia was listed as the primary event as of 31 December 2023, but the outcome of pneumonia has been updated to fatal in the database. Accordingly, this event is counted here as a fatal pneumonia event.

medication, such as corticosteroids, hydroxychloroquine, and methotrexate, which could contribute to the immunosuppression over time as well as subsequent infections.

The risk of serious infection has been evaluated in the anifrolumab SLE program, including in 3 randomised, placebo-controlled studies.

Risk factors and risk groups:

The risk factors for serious infection in patients treated with anifrolumab are unknown. Infection is a risk of prolonged immunosuppression and high-dose corticosteroid therapy in patients with SLE, even in the absence of other impairments of host defenses. Infection is one of the most common causes of morbidity and mortality among patients with SLE and may contribute to disease exacerbations (Navarra and Leynes 2010). The probability of developing a given infectious disease depends on the risk for exposure to potential pathogens, the virulence of the pathogen, and the level of immunosuppression of the patient.

Preventability:

In Section 4.4 of the SmPC, as a general precaution, it is recommended that prior to initiating therapy with anifrolumab, consideration should be given to completion of all appropriate immunisations according to current immunisation guidelines. Patients are informed in the Patient Information Leaflet to contact their healthcare provider as soon as possible in the event that they develop signs/symptoms of an infection.

Impact on the benefit-risk balance of the product:

Serious infections have the potential to result in serious consequences such as hospitalisation, fatality, or a detrimental impact on a patient's quality of life, and could therefore impact the benefit-risk profile of anifrolumab.

Public health impact

As the impact is to the treated population of patients with SLE only, there is no public health impact.

2.7.3.2 Presentation of missing information Missing information: Use in pregnant and breastfeeding women

Evidence source:

Non-clinical findings suggest that reproductive risks and developmental toxicity risks associated with anifrolumab administration are low (Section 2.2.1). In the enhanced peri- and post-natal developmental toxicology study in cynomolgus monkeys with IV anifrolumab, there were embryo-fetal losses, but the values were within the testing facility's historical control range and did not attain statistical significance (Section 2.2.1). Therefore, it cannot be concluded that the apparent increases in abortion resulted from treatment with anifrolumab.

However, because there is no clinical data for patients taking anifrolumab throughout the entirety of their pregnancy, these risks cannot be excluded.

It is unknown whether anifrolumab or its metabolites are excreted in human or animal milk; therefore, risk to the breastfed child cannot be excluded. There is no clinical trial data on the effect of anifrolumab on patients who are breastfeeding.

Population in need of further characterisation:

Use of anifrolumab in pregnant women will be studied in a post-marketing pregnancy study.

Missing information: Effects on responses to inactivated vaccines

Evidence source

The use of inactivated vaccines was not restricted in the study protocols; however, there is insufficient data on whether use of anifrolumab effects the response to these vaccines. In the Phase II and III studies, vaccine data, such as receipt of the seasonal flu vaccine, were only collected as part of the routine collection of concomitant medications during the studies. It is unknown if the blockade of IFN receptors could have an effect on vaccination responses. As there is insufficient knowledge to determine whether the safety profile for this utilisation differs from that characterised so far, it is considered missing information.

Population in need of further characterisation:

Effects on responses to inactivated vaccines are being further characterised through an ongoing externally-sponsored study of patients who have received quadrivalent flu vaccination.

2.8 MODULE SVIII: SUMMARY OF THE SAFETY CONCERNS

2.8.1 Summary of the safety concerns

Important potential risks	Malignancy Serious infection
Missing information	Use in pregnant and breastfeeding women
	Effects on responses to inactivated vaccines

Table 2-6Summary of safety concerns

3 PART III: PHARMACOVIGILANCE PLAN

3.1 ROUTINE PHARMACOVIGILANCE ACTIVITIES

Specific adverse reaction follow-up questionnaires for malignancy:

Follow-up questionnaires will be used to facilitate the post-marketing safety data collection for malignancy. The purpose is to collect additional information related to the management and outcome of these events, which will allow for more accurate assessment of the post-marketing safety profile of anifrolumab.

3.2 ADDITIONAL PHARMACOVIGILANCE ACTIVITIES

Anifrolumab Pregnancy Study

Study short name and title:

D3461R00028 – Retrospective Pregnancy Study, A Non-Interventional Multi-Database Post Authorisation Study to Assess Pregnancy-Related Safety Data from Women with SLE Exposed to Anifrolumab

Rationale and study objectives:

Systemic lupus erythematosus affects a high proportion of women of child-bearing potential age. However, there is limited information on pregnancy and birth outcomes in women who are exposed to anifrolumab during pregnancy.

The study includes 2 stages, a feasibility assessment (conducted in parallel with protocol development) and a main study.

The objective of the feasibility assessment (Stage 1) was to conduct a full feasibility assessment of existing electronic data sources suitable for pregnancy studies.

The primary, secondary, and exploratory objectives of the main study (Stage 2) are:

Primary Objectives

- To describe and estimate the risk of MCM in live and non-live offspring from:
 - women with moderate/severe SLE, exposed to anifrolumab during the first trimester of pregnancy.
 - comparable population of women with moderate/severe SLE, exposed to SOC and unexposed to anifrolumab during the first trimester of pregnancy.
- To estimate the relative risk of MCM in live and non-live offspring from women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab during the first trimester of pregnancy compared to women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC and

unexposed to anifrolumab during the first trimester of pregnancy.

- To describe and estimate the risk of select pregnancy loss outcomes (composite of spontaneous abortion and stillbirth) in pregnancies occurring in:
 - women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
 - comparable population of women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC and unexposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
- To estimate the relative risk of select pregnancy loss outcomes (composite of spontaneous abortion and stillbirth) in pregnancies occurring in women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy compared to women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC and unexposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.

Secondary Objectives

- To describe demographic and clinical characteristics of:
 - live and non-live offspring (separately) and their mothers with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab during the first trimester of pregnancy.
 - live and non-live offspring (separately) and their mothers with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC and unexposed to anifrolumab during the first trimester of pregnancy.
 - live and non-live offspring (separately) and their mothers with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
 - live and non-live offspring (separately) and their mothers with moderate/severe
 SLE exposed to SOC and unexposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
- To describe and estimate the risk of mCM in live and non-live offspring from:
 - women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
 - comparable population of women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC and unexposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
- To estimate the relative risk of mCM in live and non-live offspring from women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy compared to women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC and unexposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
- To describe and estimate the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes separately (ectopic pregnancy, spontaneous abortion, elective termination of pregnancy, stillbirth, infections requiring hospitalisation during pregnancy, emergency caesarean section) and as a composite of foetal loss (composite of spontaneous abortion, ectopic pregnancy, elective termination of pregnancy, and stillbirth) in pregnancies from:

- women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
- comparable population of women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC and unexposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
- To estimate the relative risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes separately (ectopic pregnancy, spontaneous abortion, elective termination of pregnancy, stillbirth, infections requiring hospitalisation during pregnancy, emergency caesarean section) and as a composite of foetal loss (composite of spontaneous abortion, ectopic pregnancy, elective termination of pregnancy, and stillbirth) in pregnancies from women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy compared to women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC and unexposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
- To describe and estimate the risk of adverse birth outcomes (preterm birth, SGA) in live offspring from:
 - women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
 - comparable population of women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC and unexposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
- To estimate the relative risk of adverse birth outcomes (preterm birth, SGA) in live offspring from women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy compared to women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC and unexposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.

Exploratory Objectives

- To describe and estimate the risk of adverse outcome related to infant growth up to one year of age of live offspring from:
 - women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
 - comparable population of women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC and unexposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
- To describe and estimate the risk of select pregnancy loss outcomes (composite of spontaneous abortion and stillbirth) in pregnancies occurring in:
 - women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab during specific pregnancy trimesters (trimester 1 only; trimester 1 and 2 only; trimester 2 and 3 only; trimester 3 only; all trimesters 1, 2, and3).
 - comparable population of women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC during specific pregnancy trimesters (trimester 1 only; trimester 1 and 2 only; trimester 2 and 3 only; trimester 3 only; all trimesters 1,2, and 3) and unexposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.

- To estimate the relative risk of select pregnancy loss outcomes (composite of spontaneous abortion and stillbirth) in pregnancies occurring in women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab during specific pregnancy trimesters (trimester 1 only; trimester 1 and 2 only; trimester 2 and 3 only; trimester 3 only; all trimesters 1,2, and 3) compared to women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC in the same pregnancy trimesters and unexposed to anifrolumab anytime during pregnancy.
- To describe and estimate the risk of MCM by target body system organ class in live and non-live offspring from:
 - women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab during the first trimester of pregnancy.
 - comparable population of women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to SOC and unexposed to anifrolumab during the first trimester of pregnancy.

Study design:

This study will be an observational cohort study of anifrolumab-exposed and non-exposed pregnancies in patients with moderate/severe SLE. The study will utilise data extracts from multiple secondary data collected and maintained within established secondary observational data sources in the EU and US with mother-baby linkage. Pregnancy outcomes (including live births and non-live births) and infant outcomes (including congenital anomalies/birth defects) will be collected and followed up on for one year.

The study will include a feasibility assessment of suitable secondary observational data sources, including existing SLE disease registries as well as established electronic medical records and other secondary data sources. The study period will start with the first anifrolumab prescription in each data source and will end at the latest date for which data are needed to complete the analyses in the desired sample size. Throughout the study period, the number of anifrolumab-exposed pregnancies and live births will be monitored annually in all data sources to inform the study size, to update the predicted statistical precision, and to determine the study data set creation.

Data from the selected data sources will be analysed retrospectively according to a common protocol and statistical analysis plan during Stage 2.

Study population:

The study population will include pregnant women exposed to anifrolumab and a comparable group of pregnant women with moderate/severe SLE not exposed to anifrolumab.

Pregnancy outcomes (including live births and non-live births) and infant outcomes (including congenital anomalies/birth defects) will be collected and followed up on for one year.

Pregnancy will be identified using appropriate coding for pregnancy and antenatal and postnatal care, depending on the database. Where possible, the profiles of a sample of patients who were potentially pregnant will be reviewed to evaluate the performance of and refine the electronic algorithm used to identify pregnancy.

Women who were prescribed a known teratogenic drug during pregnancy will be excluded

Milestones

- Completion of the feasibility study (Stage 1): Q1 2023
- Study protocol submission: Q2 2023
- Interim report 1: Q4 2027
- **Interim report 2:** Q4 2030
- Final report submission: Q1 2032

Anifrolumab Serious Infection and Malignancy Study

Study short name and title:

D3461R00046 – Anifrolumab Serious Infections and Malignancies Study, A noninterventional multi-country post-authorisation safety study (PASS) to assess the incidence of serious infections & malignancies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients exposed to anifrolumab.

Rationale and study objectives:

Anifrolumab is a mAb with a novel mechanism of action. In the absence of sufficient data from clinical studies to determine the risk of malignancy and serious infections among moderate/severe SLE patients, AstraZeneca will conduct a PASS to assess the risk of serious infections and malignancies in a population of patients receiving treatment with anifrolumab compared to a comparable population of SLE patients who receive standard therapy.

The study will include 2 study cohorts - one for the evaluation of malignancy outcomes and the other for the evaluation of serious infection outcomes.

Primary Objectives

The following primary objectives pertain to serious infection and malignancy outcomes:

• To compare hazard rates of new malignancies (as a composite outcome) in moderate/severe SLE patients initiating anifrolumab versus comparable moderate/severe SLE patients who do not initiate anifrolumab (exposed to SLE)

SOC).

• To compare hazard rates of the first occurrence of a serious infection (as a composite outcome) in moderate/severe SLE patients initiating anifrolumab versus comparable moderate/severe SLE patients who do not initiate anifrolumab (exposed to SLE SOC).

Secondary Objectives

The following secondary objective pertain to the malignancy and serious infection outcome cohorts:

• To describe the demographic and clinical characteristics of patients in each study cohort (malignancy cohort and serious infection cohort) at index date, by exposure status (exposed to anifrolumab versus exposed to SLE SOC).

The following secondary objectives pertain to the malignancy outcomes:

• To compare hazard rates of new pre-specified malignancy sub-types (separately) in moderate/severe SLE patients initiating anifrolumab versus comparable moderate/severe SLE patients who do not initiate anifrolumab (exposed to SLE SOC).

The following secondary objectives pertain to the serious infection outcomes:

• To compare hazard rates of the first occurrence of opportunistic serious infections, other serious infections, pneumonia (overall), fatal and non-fatal pneumonia (separately) in moderate/severe SLE patients initiating anifrolumab versus comparable moderate/severe SLE patients who do not initiate anifrolumab (exposed to SLE SOC), where feasible (i.e., if sample size is sufficient).

Exploratory Objectives

The following objectives pertain to the serious infection outcomes:

• To compare the hazard rates of recurrent infections leading to hospitalisation in moderate/severe SLE patients initiating anifrolumab and in comparable moderate/severe SLE patients who do not initiate anifrolumab (exposed to SLE SOC), when feasible.

Study design:

This study will be a non-interventional, multi-country, long-term PASS based on secondary use of data from Denmark, France, Germany, and Spain, allowing the inclusion of a large number of patients and enhancing representativeness across Europe. This PASS will evaluate the risk of malignancies and serious infections in patients who receive anifrolumab in addition to SLE SOC compared to a similar population who are on SLE SOC alone, using a

prevalent-new-user design and propensity score approach. Multiple observational data sources in Europe will be analysed separately and, subsequently, a meta-analysis will be performed (where feasible).

The study includes a feasibility assessment of suitable secondary observational data sources, including existing SLE disease registries as well as established electronic medical records and other secondary data sources.

The study will start with the first anifrolumab prescription in each data source and will end on the last possible day of follow-up when all patients still in the study are censored.

Study population

The study population will include patients ≥ 18 years of age with a diagnosis of moderate/severe SLE who receive anifrolumab plus standard of care or standard of care in four European countries. The anifrolumab-treated cohort will be compared with a cohort of patients with SLE treated with standard of care (including biologics) using propensity score methods focusing on current and treatment history, disease severity, and other factors.

Milestones

- Completion of feasibility study (Stage 1): Q1 2023
- Study protocol submission: Q3 2022
- Interim report 1 (serious infection and malignancy): Q2 2027
- Final report of study results (serious infection): Q4 2028
- Interim report 2 (malignancy): Q2 2030
- Final report of study results (malignancy): Q4 2032

3.3 SUMMARY TABLE OF ADDITIONAL PHARMACOVIGILANCE ACTIVITIES

Study	Summary of objectives	Safety concerns	Milestones	Due dates				
Status		addressed						
Category 1 - Not applicable								
Category 2 – Not applicable								
Category 3 - Required additional p	harmacovigilance activities							
D3461R00028 A Non-Interventional Multi- Database Post Authorisation	The aim of this study is to describe the congenital malformations, adverse pregnancy and birth outcomes in pregnancies/offspring from women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab during	Use in pregnant women	Completion of the feasibility study	Q1 2023				
Study to Assess Pregnancy- Related Safety Data frompregnancy and to compare with outcomes in women with moderate/severe SLE who are exposed to other SOC but not anifrolumab. Adverse outcomes related to infant growth up to one	·	Study protocol submission	Q2 2023					
Anifrolumab	year of age will also be investigated.		Interim report 1	Q4 2027				
			Interim report 2	Q4 2030				
Planned			Final report submission	Q1 2032				
D3461R00046 A non-interventional multi- country post-authorisation	To compare hazard rates of new malignancies (as a composite outcome) in moderate/severe SLE patients initiating anifrolumab versus comparable moderate/severe SLE patients who do not initiate	Serious infection and malignancies	Completion of feasibility study (Stage 1)	Q1 2023				
safety study (PASS) to assess the incidence of seriousanifrolumab (exposed to SLE SOC). To compare hazard rates of the first occurrence of a serious		Study protocol submission	Q3 2022					
infections & malignancies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients exposed to anifrolumab.	nfection (as a composite outcome) in moderate/severe SLE patients initiating anifrolumab versus comparable moderate/severe SLE patients who do not initiate anifrolumab (exposed to SLE SOC).		Interim report 1 (serious infections and malignancy)	Q2 2027				

Table 3-1Ongoing and planned additional pharmacovigilance activities

Study	Summary of objectives	Safety concerns	Milestones	Due dates
Status		addressed		
Planned	To describe the demographic and clinical characteristics of patients in each study cohort (malignancy cohort and serious infection cohort) at index date, by exposure status (exposed to anifrolumab vs. exposed to SLE SOC).		Final report of study results (serious infections)	Q4 2028
	To compare hazard rates of new pre-specified malignancy sub-types (separately) in moderate/severe SLE patients initiating anifrolumab		Interim report 2 (malignancy)	Q2 2030
	versus comparable moderate/severe SLE patients who do not initiate anifrolumab (exposed to SLE SOC).		Final report of study results	Q4 2032
	To compare hazard rates of the first occurrence of opportunistic serious infections, other serious infections, pneumonia (overall), fatal and non-fatal pneumonia (separately) in moderate/severe		(malignancies)	
	SLE patients initiating anifrolumab versus comparable moderate/severe SLE patients who do not initiate anifrolumab			
	(exposed to SLE SOC), where feasible (i.e., if sample size is sufficient).			
	To compare the hazard rates of recurrent infections leading to hospitalisation in moderate/severe SLE patients initiating anifrolumab			
	and in comparable moderate/severe SLE patients who do not initiate anifrolumab (exposed to SLE SOC), when feasible.			

Table 3-1Ongoing and planned additional pharmacovigilance activities

Study	Summary of objectives	Safety concerns	Milestones	Due dates
Status		addressed		
D3461C00023 – Nature of anifrolumab impact on vaccine- emergent immunity in patients with moderately to severely active systemic lupus erythematosus: A multi-centre open label parallel group trial: The NAÏVE study	To compare induction of influenza immunity after receipt of a currently recommended quadrivalent flu shot in 2 groups of patients who enter the trial with moderately to severely active SLE, 10 having initiated anifrolumab at baseline in addition to standard of care, and 10 receiving only standard of care. To evaluate the safety and tolerability of influenza vaccine given with or without anifrolumab treatment	Effects on responses to inactivated vaccines	Final report submission	Q2 2024
Ongoing				

Table 3-1Ongoing and planned additional pharmacovigilance activities

EMA European Medicines Agency; Q1 Quarter 1; Q2 Quarter 2; Q3 Quarter 3; Q4 Quarter 4; SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus; SOC Standard of care

.

4 PART IV: PLANS FOR POST-AUTHORISATION EFFICACY STUDIES

This section is not applicable since there are no post-authorisation efficacy studies planned

5 PART V: RISK MINIMISATION MEASURES

5.1 ROUTINE RISK MINIMISATION MEASURES

Table 5-1	Description of routin	ne risk minimisation	measures by safet	y concern

Safety concern	Routine risk minimisation activities		
Important potential risks			
Malignancy	Routine risk communication:		
	• SmPC Section 4.4		
	Package leaflet Section 2		
	Other routine risk minimisation measures beyond the Product		
	Information:		
	Legal status: Restricted medical prescription		
Serious infection	Routine risk communication:		
	• SmPC Section 4.4		
	Package leaflet Section 2		
	Routine risk minimisation activities recommending specific clinical		
	measures to address the risk:		
	• SmPC Section 4.4		
	Other routine risk minimisation measures beyond the Product		
	Information:		
	Legal status: Restricted medical prescription		
Missing information	1		
Use in pregnant and breastfeeding	Routine risk communication:		
women	• SmPC Section 4.6, package leaflet Section 2		
Effects on responses to inactivated	Routine risk communication:		
vaccines	• SmPC Sections 4.4 and 4.5		
	Package leaflet Section 2		
	Routine risk minimisation activities recommending specific clinical		
	measures to address the risk:		
	SmPC Section 4.4		

SmPC Summary of Product Characteristics.

5.2 ADDITIONAL RISK MINIMISATION MEASURES

Routine risk minimisation activities as described in Part V.1 are sufficient to manage the safety concerns of the medicinal product.

5.3 SUMMARY OF RISK MINIMISATION MEASURES

Table 5-2Summary table of pharmacovigilance activities and risk minimisation
activities by safety concern

Safety concern	Risk minimisation measures	Pharmacovigilance activities
Important potential	risks	
Malignancy	 <u>Routine risk minimisation measures:</u> SmPC Section 4.4 Package leaflet Section 2 	 Routine pharmacovigilance activity: Targeted safety questionnaire <u>Additional pharmacovigilance activities</u>: Study D3461R00046 - A non- interventional multi-country post- authorisation safety study (PASS) to assess the incidence of serious infections & malignancies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients exposed to anifrolumab.
Serious infection	 <u>Routine risk minimisation measures:</u> SmPC Section 4.4 Package leaflet Section 2 	 <u>Additional pharmacovigilance activities</u>: Study D3461R00046 - A non- interventional multi-country post- authorisation safety study (PASS) to assess the incidence of serious infections & malignancies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients exposed to anifrolumab.
Missing information	1	
Use in pregnant and breastfeeding women	 <u>Routine risk minimisation measures:</u> SmPC Section 4.6 Package leaflet Section 2 	 Additional pharmacovigilance activity: D3461R00028, A Non-Interventional Multi- Database Post-Authorisation Study to Assess Pregnancy-Related Safety Data from Women with SLE Exposed to Anifrolumab
Effects on responses to inactivated vaccines	 <u>Routine risk minimisation measures:</u> SmPC Section 4.4 and 4.5 Package leaflet Section 2 	 <u>Additional pharmacovigilance activity:</u> D3461C00023, Nature of anifrolumab impact on vaccine-emergent immunity in patients with moderately to severely active systemic lupus erythematosus: A multi- centre open label parallel group trial: The NAÏVE study

<< SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus; SmPC Summary of Product Characteristics.>>

6

PART VI: SUMMARY OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR ANIFROLUMAB

This is a summary of the RMP for anifrolumab. The RMP details important risks of anifrolumab, how these risks can be minimised, and how more information will be obtained about anifrolumab's risks and uncertainties (missing information).

Anifrolumab's SmPC and its package leaflet give essential information to healthcare professionals and patients on how anifrolumab should be used.

This summary of the RMP for anifrolumab should be read in the context of all this information including the assessment report of the evaluation and its plain-language summary, all which is part of the European Public Assessment Report (EPAR)>.

Important new concerns or changes to the current ones will be included in updates of anifrolumab's RMP.

6.1 THE MEDICINE AND WHAT IT IS USED FOR

The indication of anifrolumab is as an add-on therapy for the treatment of adult patients with moderate to severe, active, autoantibody-positive, systemic lupus erythematosus, despite standard therapy (see SmPC for full indication). It contains anifrolumab as the active substance and is administered as an IV infusion.

Further information about the evaluation of anifrolumab's benefits can be found in anifrolumab's EPAR, including in its plain-language summary, available on the EMA website, under the medicine's webpage:

https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/saphnelo

6.2 RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE MEDICINE AND ACTIVITIES TO MINIMISE OR FURTHER CHARACTERISE THE RISKS

Important risks of anifrolumab, together with measures to minimise such risks and the proposed studies for learning more about anifrolumab's risks, are outlined below.

Measures to minimise the risks identified for medicinal products can be:

- Specific information, such as warnings, precautions, and advice on correct use, in the package leaflet and <SmPC/PI> addressed to patients and healthcare professionals;
- Important advice on the medicine's packaging;
- The authorised pack size the amount of medicine in a pack is chosen so to ensure that the medicine is used correctly;
- The medicine's legal status the way a medicine is supplied to the patient (e.g. with or without prescription) can help to minimise its risks.

Together, these measures constitute routine risk minimisation measures.

Information about adverse reactions is collected continuously and regularly analysed, including in the Periodic Safety Update Report, so that immediate action can be taken as

necessary. These measures constitute routine pharmacovigilance activities.

If important information that may affect the safe use of anifrolumab is not yet available, it is listed under 'missing information' below.

6.2.1 List of important risks and missing information

Important risks of anifrolumab are risks that need special risk management activities to further investigate or minimise the risk, so that the medicinal product can be safely administered. Important risks can be regarded as identified or potential. Identified risks are concerns for which there is sufficient proof of a link with the use of anifrolumab. Potential risks are concerns for which an association with the use of this medicine is possible based on available data, but this association has not been established yet and needs further evaluation. Missing information refers to information on the safety of the medicinal product that is currently missing and needs to be collected (e.g. on the long-term use of the medicine);

Table 6-1	List of important	risks and	missino	information
	List of important	TISKS and	missing	mormation

Important potential risks	Malignancy	
	Serious infection	
Missing Information	Use in pregnant and breastfeeding women	
	Effects on responses to inactivated vaccines	

6.2.2 Summary of important risks

Table 6-2Important potential risk: Malignancy

Evidence for linking the risk to the medicine	There is a plausible mechanism of action for how anifrolumab may increase the risk of developing malignancy
Risk factors and risk groups	Patients with SLE are reported to have an increased risk of haematologic malignancies, particularly non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and leukaemia. In addition, increased risks of cancer of the vulva, lung, thyroid, and possibly liver were suggested (Bernatsky et al 2013). Female patients with SLE also have an increased risk of developing abnormal cervical cytology and squamous intraepithelial lesions.
Risk minimisation measures	 Routine risk minimisation measures SmPC Section 4.4 Package leaflet Section
Additional pharmacovigilance activities	Study D3461R00046 - A non-interventional multi-country post- authorisation safety study (PASS) to assess the incidence of serious infections & malignancies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients exposed to anifrolumab.

. SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus; SmPC Summary of Product Characteristics

Table 6-3 In	portant potent	ial risk: Serio	ous infection
--------------	----------------	-----------------	---------------

Evidence for linking the risk to the medicine	Due to the mechanism of action of anifrolumab, it is plausible that anifrolumab may increase the risk of developing certain serious infections. However, the incidence of serious infection was similar between treatment groups in the controlled Phase II and Phase III clinical studies.
Risk factors and risk groups	The risk factors for serious infection in patients treated with anifrolumab are unknown. Infection is a risk of prolonged immunosuppression and high-dose corticosteroid therapy in patients with SLE, even in the absence of other impairments of host defences. Infection is one of the most common causes of morbidity and mortality among patients with SLE and may contribute to disease exacerbations (Navarra and Leynes 2010). The probability of developing a given disease depends on the risk for exposure to potential pathogens, the virulence of the pathogen, and the level of immunosuppression of the patient.
Risk minimisation measures	 Routine risk minimisation measures: SmPC Section 4.4 Package leaflet Section 2

Table 6-3Important potential risk: Serious infection

Evidence for linking the risk to the medicine	Due to the mechanism of action of anifrolumab, it is plausible that anifrolumab may increase the risk of developing certain serious infections. However, the incidence of serious infection was similar between treatment groups in the controlled Phase II and Phase III clinical studies.
Additional pharmacovigilance activities	Study D3461R00046 - A non-interventional multi-country post- authorisation safety study (PASS) to assess the incidence of serious infections & malignancies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients exposed to anifrolumab.

SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus; SmPC Summary of Product Characteristics.

Cable 6-4Missing information	: Use in pregnant and	l breastfeeding women
------------------------------	-----------------------	-----------------------

Risk minimisation measures	Routine risk minimisation measures:	
	• SmPC Section 4.6	
	Package leaflet Section 2	
Additional pharmacovigilance	D3461R00028 - A Non-Interventional Multi-Database Post	
activities	Authorisation Study to Assess Pregnancy-Related Safety Data from	
	Women with SLE Exposed to Anifrolumab	

SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus; SmPC Summary of Product Characteristics.

Table 6-5	Missing information:	Effects on respon	ses to inactivated	vaccines

Risk minimisation measures	Routine risk minimisation measures:
	• SmPC Sections 4.4 and 4.5
	Package leaflet Section 2
Additional pharmacovigilance	D3461C00023 - Nature of anifrolumab impact on vaccine-emergent
activities	immunity in patients with moderately to severely active systemic
	lupus erythematosus: A multi-centre open label parallel group trial:
	The NAÏVE study.

SmPC Summary of Product Characteristics.

6.2.3 **Post-authorisation development plan**

6.2.3.1 Studies which are conditions of the marketing authorisation

There are no studies which are conditions of the marketing authorisation or specific obligation of anifrolumab.

6.2.3.2 Other studies in post-authorisation development plan Anifrolumab pregnancy study (D3461R00028)

Study title: Retrospective Pregnancy Study, A Non-Interventional Multi-Database Post Authorisation Study to Assess Pregnancy-Related Safety Data from Women with SLE Exposed to Anifrolumab.

Purpose of the study: Systemic lupus erythematosus affects a high proportion of women of child-bearing potential age. However, there is limited information on pregnancy and birth outcomes in women who are exposed to anifrolumab during pregnancy.

The aim of this study is to describe the congenital malformations, adverse pregnancy and birth outcomes in pregnancies/offspring from women with moderate/severe SLE exposed to anifrolumab during pregnancy and to compare with outcomes in women with moderate/severe SLE who are exposed to other SOC but not anifrolumab. Adverse outcomes related to infant growth up to one year of age will also be investigated.

Anifrolumab serious infections and malignancy study (D3461R00046)

Study title: A non-interventional multi-country post-authorisation safety study (PASS) to assess the incidence of serious infections & malignancies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients exposed to anifrolumab.

Purpose of the study: In the absence of sufficient data from clinical studies to determine the risk of malignancy and serious infections among moderate/severe SLE patients exposed to anifrolumab, AstraZeneca will conduct a PASS to compare the risk of serious infections and malignancies, separately, in a population of patients receiving treatment with anifrolumab and a comparable population of SLE patients receiving standard therapy.

This is an observational study, in which the main research question is to evaluate the risk of malignancies and serious infections among moderate/severe SLE patients who receive anifrolumab compared with a comparable population of moderate/severe SLE patients on SOC who do not initiate anifrolumab. To address this research question, 2 study cohorts will be defined - one for the evaluation of malignancy outcomes and the other for the evaluation of serious infection outcomes.

The NAÏVE study (D3461C00023)

Study title: Nature of anifrolumab impact on vaccine-emergent immunity in patients with moderately to severely active Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: A multi-centre open label parallel group trial.

Purpose of the study: To better understand the impact of anifrolumab on vaccination responses, including measuring antibody concentrations; an external partner (Oklahoma Medical Research Foundation) is conducting a study.

The study has the following objectives:

• To compare induction of influenza immunity after receipt of a currently

recommended quadrivalent flu shot in 2 groups of patients who enter the trial with moderately to severely active SLE, 10 having initiated anifrolumab at baseline in addition to standard of care, and 10 receiving only standard of care.

• To evaluate the safety and tolerability of influenza vaccine given with or without anifrolumab treatment.

7 PART VII: ANNEXES

7.1 **ANNEX 4: Specific adverse drug reaction follow-up forms**

• Malignancy Adverse Event Report Questionnaire

7.2 ANNEX 6: Details of proposed additional risk minimisation activities

Not applicable

LIST OF REFERENCES

Affabris et al 1987

Affabris E, Romeo G, Federico M, Coccia E, Locardi C, Belardelli F, et al. Molecular mechanisms of action of interferons in the Friend virus-induced leukemia cell system. Haematologica. 1987;72(6 Suppl):76-8.

Almehed et al 2007

Almehed K, Forsblad d'Elia H, Kvist G, Ohlsson C, Carlsten H. Prevalence and risk factors of osteoporosis in female SLE patients-extended report. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2007;46(7):1185-90.

Al Sawah et al 2015

Al Sawah S, Zhang X, Zhu B, Magder LS, Foster SA, Iikuni N et al. Effect of corticosteroid use by dose on the risk of developing organ damage over time in systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus Sci Med. 2015;1:1-10.

Andrade et al 2015

Andrade D, Kim M, Blanco LP, Karumanchi SA, Koo GC, Redecha P et al. Interferon-alpha and angiogenic dysregulation in pregnant lupus patients who develop preeclampsia. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2015;67(4):977-87.

Apor et al 2014

Apor E, O'Brien J, Stephen M, Castillo JJ. Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Is Associated With Increased Incidence of Hematologic Malignancies: A Meta-Analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies. Leuk Res. 2014;38(9):1067-71.

Apostolopoulos and Morand 2017

Apostolopoulos D, Morand EF. It hasn't gone away: the problem of glucocorticoid use in lupus remains. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2017;56(1):i114-i122.

Belardelli et al 2002

Belardelli F, Ferrantini M, Proietti E, Kirkwood JM. Interferon-alpha in tumor immunity and immunotherapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2002;13(2):119-34.

Benlysta SmPC

Annex I Summary of Product Characteristics. Benlysta. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/benlysta-epar-product- information_en.pdf.

Bernatsky et al 2006

Bernatsky S, Boivin JF, Joseph L, Manzi S, Ginzler E, Gladman DD, et al. Mortality in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54(8):2550-7.

Bernatsky et al 2013

Bernatsky S, Ramsey-Goldman R, Labrecque J, Joseph L, Boivin JF, Petri M, et al. Cancer risk in systemic lupus: An updated international multi-centre cohort study. J Autoimmun. 2013;42:130-5.

Bertsias et al 2010

Bertsias G, Ioannidis J, Aringer M, Bollen E, Bomdardieri S, Bruce IN, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of systemic lupus erythematosus with neuropsychiatric manifestations: report of a task force of the EULAR standing committee for clinical affairs. Ann Rheum Dis. 2010;69(12):2074-82.

Bosch et al 2006

Bosch X, Guilabert A, Pallares L, Cerveral R, Ramos-Casals M, Bové A, et al. Infections in systemic lupus erythematosus: a prospective and controlled study of 110 patients. Lupus. 2006;15:584-9.

Bussiere and Johnson 2010

Bussiere, J, Johnson, C. Case study on the impact of immunogenicity on adverse effects in toxicology studies and consequences for the clinical development program. Proceedings of the Society of Toxicology Annual Meeting, Salt Lake City, Utah (March 2010).

Ceccarelli et al 2015

Ceccarelli F, Perricone C, Massaro L, Cipriano E, Alessandri C, Spinelli FR, et al. Assessment of disease activity in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: Lights and shadows. Autoimmun Rev. 2015;14(7):601-08.

Chambers et al 2009

Chambers SA, Allen E, Rahman A, Isenberg D. Damage and mortality in a group of British patients with systemic lupus erythematosus followed up for over 10 years. Rheumatology. 2009;48:673-5.

Chebbi et al 2020

Chebbi D, Jallouli M, Snoussi M, Damak C, Frikha F, Ben Salah R, et al. Familial lupus in Tunisia: a series of 14 families. Lupus. 2020;29(1):92-95. Epub 2019 Dec 1.

Choi et al 2017

Choi MY, Flood K, Bernatsky S, Ramsey-Goldman R, Clarke AE. A review on SLE and malignancy. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2017 Jun;31(3):373-396. Epub 2017 Nov 10.

Costenbader et al 2004

Costenbader KH, Kim DJ, Peerzada J, Lockman S, Nobles-Knight D, Petri M, et al. Cigarette smoking and the risk of systemic lupus erythematosus: A meta-analysis. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50:849-57.

Danchenko et al 2006

Danchenko N, Satia JA, Anthony MS. Epidemiology of systemic lupus erythematosus: a

comparison of worldwide disease burden. Lupus. 2006;15:308-18.

De Jesus et al 2015

De Jesus GR, Mendoza-Pinto C, de Jesus NR, Dos Santos FC, Klumb EM, Carrasco MG et al. Understanding and Managing Pregnancy in Patients with Lupus. Autoimmune Dis. 2015;2015:943490.

Demirkaya et al 2020

Demirkaya E, Sahin S, Romano M, Zhou Q, Aksentijevich I. New Horizons in the Genetic Etiology of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Lupus-Like Disease: Monogenic Lupus and Beyond. J Clin Med. 2020;9(3):712.

Deonarain et al 2000

Deonarain R, Alcami A, Alexiou M, Dallman MJ, Gewert DR, Porter AC. Impaired antiviral response and alpha/beta interferon induction in mice lacking beta interferon. J Virol. 2000;74(7):3404-9.

Dörner and Furie 2019

Dörner T, Furie R. Novel paradigms in systemic lupus erythematosus. Lancet 2019;393: 2344–58.

Drenkard et al 2014

Drenkard C, Bao G, Dennis G, Kan HJ, Jhingran PM, Molta CT, et al. Burden of systemic lupus erythematosus on employment and work productivity: Data from a large cohort in the Southeastern United States. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2014;66:878-87.

Fanouriakis et al 2019

Fanouriakis A, Kostopoulou M, Alunno A, Aringer M, Bajema I, Boletis JN, et al. 2019 update of the EULAR recommendations for the management of systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis. 2019;78(6):736-45.

Fischer et al 2004

Fischer LM, Schlienger RG, Matter C, Jick H, Meier CR. Effect of rheumatoid arthritis or systemic lupus erythematosus on the risk of first-time acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol. 2004;93(2):198-200.

Fujimoto et al 1983

Fujimoto K, Terao K, Cho F, Honjo S. Immunoglobulins and measles antibody in sera of newborn cynomolgus monkeys and in milk of their mothers. Jpn J Med Sci Biol. 1983;36(4):209-14.

Ghaussy et al 2003

Ghaussy NO, Sibbitt Jr W, Bankhurst AD, Qualls CR. Cigarette smoking and disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol. 2003;30(6):1215-21.

Gladman et al 2002

Gladman D, Hussain F, Ibañez D, Urowitz M. The nature and outcome of infection in systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus. 2002;11:234-9.

Gladman et al 2013

Gladman DD, Ibanẽz D, Ruiz I, Urowitz MB. Recommendations for frequency of visits to monitor systemic lupus erythematosus in asymptomatic patients: Data from an observational cohort study. J Rheumatol. 2013;40(5):630-3.

Goldblatt et al 2009

Goldblatt F, Chambers S, Rahman A, Isenberg DA. Serious infections in British patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: hospitalisations and mortality. Lupus. 2009;18(8):682-9.

Goobie et al 2015

Goobie GC, Bernatsky S, Ramsey-Goldman R, Clarke AE. Malignancies in systemic lupus erythematosus:a 2015 update. Current Opin Rheumatol. 2015;27(5):454-60.

Gresser et al 1974

Gresser I, Bandu MT, Brouty-Boyé D. Interferon and cell division. IX. Interferon-resistant L1210 cells: characteristics and origin. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1974;52(2):553-9.

Gresser et al 1983

Gresser I, Belardelli F, Maury C, Maunoury MT, Tovey MG. Injection of mice with antibody to interferon enhances the growth of transplantable murine tumors. J Exp Med. 1983;158(6):2095-107.

Györi et al 2017

Györi N, Giannakou I, Chatzidionysiou K, Magder L, van Vollenhoven RF, Petri M. Disease activity patterns over time in patients with SLE: analysis of the Hopkins Lupus Cohort. Lupus Sci Med. 2017;4:e000192.

Hanly et al 2011

Hanly JG, Urowitz MB, Jackson D, Bae SC, Gordon C, Wallace DJ, et al. SF-36 summary and subscale scores are reliable outcomes of neuropsychiatric events in systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(6):961-7.

Ho et al 2005

Ho KT, Ahn CW, Alarcón GS, Baethge BA, Tan FK, Roseman J, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus in a multiethnic cohort (LUMINA): XXVIII. Factors predictive of thrombotic events. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2005; 44(10):1303-7.

Holloway et al 2014

Holloway L, Humphrey L, Heron L, Pilling C, Kitchen H, Højbjerre L, et al. Patientreported outcome measures for systemic lupus erythematosus clinical trials: a review of content validity, face validity and psychometric performance. Heal Qual Life Outcomes.

2014;12:116.

Hui et al 2013

Hui M, Garner R, Rees F, Bavakunji R, Daniel P, Varughese S, et al. Lupus nephritis: a 15-year multi-centre experience in the UK. Lupus. 2013; 22(3):328-32.

Hwang et al 1995

Hwang SY, Hertzog PJ, Holland KA, Sumarsono SH, Tymms MJ, Hamilton JA, et al. A null mutation in the gene encoding a type I interferon receptor component eliminates antiproliferative and antiviral responses to interferons alpha and beta and alters macrophage responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995 Nov 21;92(24):11284-8.

Ibañez et al 2003

Ibañez D, Urowitz MB, Gladman DD. Summarizing disease features over time: I. Adjusted mean SLEDAI derivation and application to an index of disease activity in lupus. J Rheumatol. 2003;30:1977-82.

Ibañez et al 2005

Ibañez D, Gladman DD, Urowitz MB. Adjusted mean Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index-2K is a predictor of outcome in SLE & LN. J Rheumatol 2005;32(5):824-7.

Jarvis et al 2010

Jarvis P, Srivastav S, Vogelwedde E, Stewart J, Mitchard T, Weinbauer GF. The cynomolgus monkeys as a model for developmental toxicity studies: variability of pregnancy losses, statistical power estimates, and group size considerations. Birth Defects Res B Dev Reprod Toxicol. 2010;89:175-87.

Jiang et al 2015

Jiang F, Li S, Jia C. Smoking and the risk of systemic lupus erythematosus: an updated systematic review and cumulative meta-analysis. Clin Rheumatol. 2015 Nov;34(11):1885-92. Epub 2015 Jul 1.

Kamen 2014

Kamen DL. Environmental influences on systemic lupus erythematosus expression. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 2014;40(3):401-12, vii.

Kasitanon et al 2006

Kasitanon N, Magder LS, Petri M. Predictors of survival in systemic lupus erythematosus. Medicine (Baltimore). 2006;85(3):147-56.

Keizer et al 2010

Keizer RJ, Huitema AD, Schellens JH, Beijnen JH. Clinical pharmacokinetics of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2010;49(8):493-507.

Le Page et al 2000

Le Page C, Génin P, Baines MG, Hiscott J. Interferon activation and innate immunity. Rev Immunogenet. 2000;2(3):374-86.

Leuchten et al 2014

Leuchten N, Bauernfeind B, Kuttner J, Stamm T, Smolen JS, Pisetsky DS, et al. Relevant concepts of functioning for patients with systemic lupus erythematosus identified in a Delphi exercise of experts and a literature review. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2014;66(12):1895-904.

Lichtman et al 2012

Lichtman EI, Helfgott SM, Kriegel MA. Emerging therapies for systemic lupus erythematosus – focus on targeting interferon-alpha. Clin Immuno. 2012;143(3):210-21.

Michel et al 2001

Michel M, Johanet C, Meyer O, Francès C, Wittke F, Michel C, et al. Familial lupus erythematosus. Clinical and immunologic features of 125 multiplex families. Medicine (Baltimore). 2001;80(3):153-8.

Miller et al 2012

Miller FW, Alfredsson L, Costenbader KH, Kamen DL, Nelson LM, Norris JM, et al. Epidemiology of environmental exposures and human autoimmune diseases: Findings from a National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences Expert Panel Workshop. J Autoimmun. 2012;39(4):259-71.

Mok et al 2009

Mok CC, Ho LY, To CH. Annual incidence and standardized incidence ratio of cerebrovascular accidents in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Scand J Rheumatol. 2009;38(5):362-8.

Mont et al 1997

Mont MA, Glueck CJ, Pacheco IH, Wang P, Hungerford DS, Petri M. Risk factors for osteonecrosis in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol. 1997;24(4):654-62.

Mosca et al 2010

Mosca M, Tani C, Aringer M, Bombardieri S, Boumpas D, Brey R, et al. European League Against Rheumatism recommendations for monitoring patients with systemic lupus erythematosus in clinical practice and in observational studies. Ann Rheum Dis 2010;69(7):1269-74.

Moss et al 2002

Moss KE, Ioannou Y, Sultan SM, Haq I, Isenberg DA. Outcome of a cohort of 300 patients with systemic lupus erythematosus attending a dedicated clinic for over two decades. Ann Rheum Dis. 2002;61:409-13.

Muller et al 1994

Muller U, Steinhoff U, Reis LF, Hemmi S, Pavlovic J, Zinkernagel RM, et al. Functional role of type I and type II interferons in antiviral defense. Science. 1994;264(5167):1918-21.

Nath et al 2007

Nath R, Mant C, Luxton J, Hughes G, Raju KS, Shepherd P, et al. High risk of human

papillomavirus type 16 infections and of development of cervical squamous intraepithelial lesions in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;57(4):619-25.

Navarra and Leynes 2010

Navarra S, Leynes M. Infections in systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus. 2010;19(12):1419-1424.

Petri 2001

Petri M. Long-term outcomes in lupus. Am J Manag Care. 2001;7(16 Suppl):S480-5.

Petri et al 2012

Petri M, Purvey S, Fang H, Magder LS. Predictors of organ damage in systemic lupus erythematosus: the Hopkins Lupus Cohort. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(12):4021-8.

Pons-Estel et al 2010

Pons-Estel GJ, Alarcon GS, Scofield L, Reinlib L, Cooper GS. Understanding the Epidemiology and Progression of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2010;39(4):257-68.

Pons-Estel et al 2017

Pons-Estel GJ, Ugarte-Gil MF, Alarcón GS. Epidemiology of systemic lupus erythematosus. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2017;13(8):799-814.

Ramsey-Goldman et al 1999

Ramsey-Goldman R, Dunn JE, Huang CF, Dunlop D, Rairie JE, Fitzgerald S, et al. Frequency of fractures in women with systemic lupus erythematosus: Comparison with united states population data. Arthritis Rheum. 1999;42(5):882-90.

Rees et al 2016

Rees F, Doherty M, Grainge M, Davenport G, Lanyon P, Zhang W. The incidence and prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus in the UK, 1999-2012. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(1):136-41.

Rees et al 2017

Rees F, Doherty M, Grainge MJ, Lanyon P, Zhang W. The worldwide incidence and prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus: a systematic review of epidemiological studies. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2017;56(11):1945-61.

Riggs et al 2018

Riggs JM, Hanna RN, Rajan B, Zerrouki K, Karnell JL, Sagar D, et al. Characterisation of anifrolumab, a fully human anti-interferon receptor antagonist antibody for the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus Sci Med. 2018;5(1):e000261.

Rubin et al 2005

Rubin RL, Hermanson TM, Bedrick EJ, McDonald JD, Burchiel SW, Reed MD, et al.

Effect of cigarette smoke on autoimmunity in murine and human systemic lupus erythematosus.

Toxicol Sci 2005;87(1):86-96.

Ruiz-Arruza et al 2014

Ruiz-Arruza I, Ugarte A, Cabezas-Rodriguez I, Medina JA, Moran MA, Ruiz-Irastorza G. Glucocorticoids and irreversible damage in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2014;53(8):1470-6.

Ruiz-Irastorza et al 2001

Ruiz-Irastorza G, Khamashta MA, Castellino G, Hughes GR. Systemic lupus erythematosus. Lancet. 2001;357(9261):1027-32.

Takaoka et al 2000

Takaoka A, Mitani Y, Suemori H, Sato M, Yokochi T, Noguchi S et al. Cross talk between interferon-gamma and -alpha/beta signaling components in caveolar membrane domains. Science. 2000;288(5475):2357-60.

Tessier-Cloutier et al 2014

Tessier-Cloutier B, Clarke AE, Ramsey-Goldman R, Gordon C, Hansen JE, Bernatsky S. Systemic lupus erythematosus and malignancies: a review article. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 2014;40(3):497-506, viii. Epub 2014 Jun 3.

Thamer et al 2009

Thamer M, Hernán MA, Zhang Y, Cotter D, Petri M. Prednisone, lupus activity and permanent organ damage. J Rheumatol. 2009;36(3):560-4.

Todd 2010

Todd MD. Characterisation of Potential Immune Complexes Observed in Cynomolgus Monkeys and Relationship to Observed Toxicities of Monoclonal Antibody Drug Candidates. Proceedings of the Society of Toxicology Annual Meeting, Salt Lake City, Utah (March 2010).

Urowitz et al 2008

Urowitz MB, Gladman DD, Tom BDM, Ibañez D, Farewell VT. Changing patterns in mortality and disease outcomes for patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol. 2008;35(11):2152–8.

Van den Broek et al 1995

Van den Broek MF, Muller U, Huang S, Aguet M, Zinkernagel RM. Antiviral defense in mice lacking both alpha/beta and gamma interferon receptors. J Virol. 1995;69(8):4792-6.

Ward 1999

Ward MM. Premature morbidity from cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases in women

with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 1999;42(2):338-46.

Ward 2009

Ward MM. Changes in the incidence of endstage renal disease due to lupus nephritis in the United States, 1996-2004. J Rheumatol. 2009;36(1):63-67.

Yee et al 2005

Yee C-S, Crabtree N, Skan J, Amft N, Bowman S, Situnayke D, et al. Prevalence and predictors of fragility fractures in systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64(1):111-13.

Yockey et al 2018

Yockey LJ, Jurado KA, Arora N, Millet A, Rakib T, Milano KM et al. Type I interferons instigate fetal demise after Zika virus infection. Sci Immunol. 2018;3(19):eaao1680.